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In my 15 years on the 
Board of Directors, I’ve 
watched the organization 
grow into a vibrant and 
thriving member of 
British Columbia’s health 
care community. I joined 
the organization only 
a few years after it was 
formed by the merger 
of the Medical Services 
Association (MSA) and 

Credit Union and Cooperative Health Services Society 
(CU&C). I arrived on the board in 2001 – at around the 
same time the Pacific Blue Cross brand really began to 
take shape. As with all mergers, it took time for people at 
all levels of the organization to adjust to working together 
and learning new ways of doing things. Unlike names, 
loyalties take much longer to change. 

Now here we are 15 years later. The organization is one 
of BC’s most recognized brands, we’re in strong financial 
health and we have 700 staff members who, if you ask 
where they work, will proudly say Pacific Blue Cross. But 
we haven’t forgotten our roots – in fact, our new mission 
and vision take us back to those of our predecessors. 

MSA and CU&C were health care innovators of their 
time. They worked with physicians, unions, hospitals 
and government to shape the Medical Services Plan that 
brought universal health care to British Columbians. In 
1968, MSA used investment income to set up the BC 
Medical Services Foundation. MSA seeded the fund 
with $300,000 to be distributed to charities, educational 
institutions and research projects. CU&C developed 
the province’s first individual plan for laid off workers, 
ensuring coverage until they were employed again. 
Rooted in advocacy, CU&C introduced Canada’s first 
dental plan in partnership with the Sheet Metal Workers’ 
Union, as well as BC’s first prepaid prescription drug plan. 

Which brings us back to our new mission and vision – 
introduced on the following pages by Chief Executive 
Officer Jan K. Grude. To help drive our new way forward, 
we’ve welcomed new faces to the senior leadership team. 

At this Annual General Meeting, we will also elect 
new faces to the board. The board will continue to 
maintain strong representation from organized labour, 
employers and health professionals. 

On behalf of the board and executive, I want to extend 
my sincere and heartfelt thanks to retiring board 
members Chris Locke and Terry Lineker. Chris retired 
last December after 22 years of service, which began 
with our predecessor CU&C. Terry retired in April 
after 15 years. I thank both Chris and Terry for their 
outstanding contributions, loyalty and friendship.

Eric Mitterndorfer and Marilyn Clark are retiring from 
the board of BC Life & Casualty Company, a Pacific Blue 
Cross subsidiary, after long and dedicated service. I 
would like to thank Marilyn and Eric for their many 
years of guidance and thoughtful oversight that they 
brought to that board at every meeting.

Finally, the board extends our sincere appreciation to all 
Pacific Blue Cross and BC Life plan members, sponsors 
and stakeholders for your continued support.  

Gerry Smith,  
Chair of the Board of Directors

Message from the Chair



Mission
Our Mission is to improve health and well-being 
in British Columbia.

Good health is the foundation for a fulfilling life. 
Good health empowers you to live your dreams 
and experience all that life has to offer. As the 
founder of health coverage in British Columbia, 
we’ve always believed in affordable access to 
the best possible health care. As a not-for-profit 
service organization, we provide workplace 
and personal solutions that support the full 
continuum of care. Our deep understanding 
of changing health care needs, coupled with 
our passion for caring service builds strong 
relationships so we can provide the very best 
solutions to meet your needs.

Message from the President and CEO
In 2014, nothing was 
‘business as usual’ at  
Pacific Blue Cross. 

On April 4, 2014, we 
completed the migration 
of 26 legacy systems, 
19,000 group plans and 
185 million claims to a 
new, data-rich technology 
system - consolidating 
the supplemental health 
records of 40 percent 

of British Columbia’s population. This state-of-the-art 
technology will serve the needs of our members, plan 
sponsors and stakeholders for the foreseeable future,  
and positions us well competitively at the leading edge of 
the market.

I want to personally thank all members, plan sponsors 
and stakeholders of Pacific Blue Cross for your patience 
and loyalty through the change process in 2014. Member 
satisfaction in 2014 rose to the highest in the company’s 
history since we began measuring, primarily due to online 
tools and a much-improved online claiming experience. 

While initially the change to our new system was not as 
seamless for plan administrators, increased training, the 
development of new administrator tools, and significant 
technological and usability improvements have succeeded 
in making the post-implementation phase a new and 
better experience in 2015. I can give you my assurance 
that we are committed to the highest quality of customer 
service, responsiveness and operational efficiency at all 
levels of the organization.

While we continue to work on constantly improving 
the member and plan sponsor experience, Pacific Blue 
Cross has embarked on a new mission and vision for 
the organization. 

New Mission and Vision
At the end of 2014, we began the process of changing our 
mission and vision to reflect a return to the principles of 
our founding predecessor organizations. Our new mission 
and vision statements are published for the first time in this 
annual report. This change is tied to a significant milestone. 
In 2015 we will mark our 75th anniversary year and our 
stakeholders can expect more announcements celebrating 
this anniversary in the coming months. 

New Executive Appointments
In 2014 we welcomed Helen Blackburn to the Executive 
team as Senior Vice President, Strategy and Analytics. 
Helen has completed extensive research to understand our 
market challenges and strengths and positon us for our 
new mission. Prior to joining Pacific Blue Cross, Helen was 
acting Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and 
Senior Vice President of Strategy for Central 1 Credit Union. 

With the retirement of two long-serving executives, in May 
2015 we welcomed Heidi Worthington to the role of Senior 
Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer, and Barry Rivelis 
as Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer. 
Heidi was previously CMO at BCAA and an international 
marketing leader for Unilever NV. Barry’s former roles 
include CIO of Provincial Health Services Authority and 
Vice President, Health Care, for TELUS Corporation. 

Expanded Third Party 
Administration Capacity
The acquisition of D.A. Townley in September 2014 
bolstered our strength in third party administration. As 
Western Canada’s largest third party benefits administrator, 
D.A. Townley already has strong brand recognition and 
as such remains a separate, wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Pacific Blue Cross. 
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Vision
Our vision of a healthier  
British Columbia means…

Having affordable access to the best possible 
health care, personalized solutions to meet 
changing health care needs, and a sustainable 
health plan that provides the security and trust 
you need.

Governments, businesses, unions and individuals 
look to us to help make people’s lives better. 
Through our deep understanding of health 
care and our strong commitment to the 
province, we offer the most flexible solutions 
to meet the ever-changing health care needs 
of British Columbians, while staying true to the 
principles of universal health care on which we 
were founded.

Board Appointments
At this year’s Annual General Meeting we will elect 
two new members to our Board of Directors to replace 
retiring members Chris Locke and Terry Lineker. As more 
members retire from our PBC Board and the Board of our 
subsidiary, BC Life, we are committed to electing new 
members based on best practices laid out by the Financial 
Institutions Commission of BC (FICOM). These guidelines, 
introduced by the regulator in 2013, call for Boards to be 
composed of skilled and credentialed individuals with 
relevant experience.

As we meet the regulator’s guidelines, Pacific Blue Cross 
remains committed to the tripartite structure of our board 
with representation across employers, unions and the 
healthcare system. Within each of those constituencies, 
we will need to put forward individuals who first and 
foremost can make a contribution, and whose fiduciary 
accountability to the Society is reflected in their skills, 
expertise and experience. This will help ensure a strong 
and representative Society for many years to come.

Financial Performance
Even in a year marked by a major system implementation 
and the attendant changes it brought with it, our revenue 
continued to grow, from $1.295 billion in 2013 to $1.309 
billion in 2014. In 2014 we prepared a multi-year financial 
plan to promote revenue growth, diversify our business, 
improve efficiency and position us for the future.

We continue to maintain a healthy Minimum Continuing 
Capital and Surplus Requirement (MCCSR), exceeding the 
minimum requirements of the Office of the Superintendent 
of Financial Institutions to meet capital obligations to 
policyholders. We are very pleased with the continued 
strong financial health of the company – so important 
if we are to grow our business and continue to serve 
British Columbians.

I wish to personally thank all Pacific Blue Cross employees 
for your teamwork over the past year, and recognize your 
loyalty, perseverance and resilience through a period 
of tremendous change. We value your commitment to 
this organization. 

Jan K. Grude, President and CEO
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Responsibility for the Annual Report
The management of PBC Health Benefits Society is 
responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of 
the financial statements and other information in the 
Annual Report. The complete financial statements, 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles, include amounts based 
on estimates and judgments. Financial information 
and operating data presented elsewhere in this Annual 
Report are consistent with that in the complete financial 
statements.

PBC Health Benefits Society maintains systems of 
internal accounting and administrative controls which 
provide management with reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded and reliable financial records are 
maintained. This system includes written policies and 
procedures, an organizational structure that segregates 
duties and a program of periodic audits by internal 
auditors.

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of 
Directors to carry out an annual valuation of the policy 
liabilities. In performing this valuation, the Appointed 
Actuary makes assumptions as to future rates of interest, 
mortality, morbidity, expenses, inflation, reinsurance 
recoveries, and other contingencies, taking into account 
the circumstances of the Society and the policies in force. 
The Appointed Actuary is responsible for ensuring that 
these assumptions and the methods for the valuation 
of policy liabilities are in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice, applicable legislation, and associated 
regulations and directives, and is required to provide an 
opinion on the appropriateness of the policy liabilities 
at the balance sheet date to meet all policyholder 
obligations of PBC Health Benefits Society. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent auditor, 
has been appointed to express an opinion as to whether 
these financial statements fairly present the Society’s 
financial position and operating results in all material 
respects in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

The Appointed Actuary and independent auditor 
may consider each other’s work in discharging their 
respective responsibilities.

The Board of Directors has reviewed and approved these 
financial statements. To assist the Board in meeting its 
responsibility, it has appointed an Audit Committee, 
comprised entirely of independent Directors. The 
committee meets periodically with management, the 
internal auditors and the independent auditors to 
review internal accounting controls, audit results and 
accounting principles and practices.

John Crawford, CPA, CA
Chief Financial Officer & Senior Vice President
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Appointed Actuary’s Report 
May 4, 2015
To the members of PBC Health Benefits Society:

I have valued the policy liabilities and reinsurance 
recoverables of PBC Health Benefits Society (operating 
as Pacific Blue Cross) for its consolidated statement 
of financial positon at December 31, 2014 and their 
changes in the statement of income for the year then 
ended in accordance with the accepted actuarial 
practice in Canada including selection of appropriate 
assumptions and methods.

In my opinion, the amount of policy liabilities net of 
reinsurance recoverables makes appropriate provision 
for all policy obligations and the consolidated financial 
statements fairly present the results of the valuation.

Wendy Harrison, FCIA 
Eckler Ltd
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Independent Auditor’s Report
May 5, 2015
To the members of PBC Health Benefits Society:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) and its subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet, 
statements of changes in equity, income and 
comprehensive income and cash flows for the year 
ended December 31, 2014, and the related notes, which 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated 
financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in 
our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of PBC Health Benefits Society and its 
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2014 and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, BC



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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    As at Dec. 31 As at Dec. 31    
  2014 2013 
 
Assets 
Property and equipment (note 10)  $4,723 $4,869 

Restricted cash (note 24) 7,954 - 

Amounts due from reinsurers (note 7) 79,776 70,175   

Intangible assets (note 11) 70,724 74,605 

Investments (note 6) 198,169 179,629 

PIMCO investments (note 5) 176,383 166,537   

Deferred tax assets  416 734 

Trade and other receivables (note 8) 39,993 31,714 

Current tax receivable 114 628 

Prepaid expenses (note 9) 3,890 3,677   

Cash and cash equivalents (note 6) 40,772 52,995 

Total assets $622,914 $585,563 
 

Liabilities and Equity 
Insurance liabilities (notes 4 and 12) $157,647 $142,062  

Employee benefits (note 17) 40,599 32,483 

Members’ dues received in advance (note 13) 10,262 9,706 

Trade and other payables (note 14) 203,352 194,162 

PIMCO investments (note 5) 1,448 727 

Total liabilities $413,308 $379,140  
 
Equity: 

Other reserves (note 2.3) $10,000 $10,000 
Retained earnings 199,606 196,423 

Total equity $209,606 $206,423 
 
Total liabilities and equity $622,914 $585,563 

Commitments (note 16) 
Contingencies (note 22) 
Subsequent event (note 24) 
  
 
 

Approved by the Board of Directors 

 
Gerry Smith, Board Chair 
 

 

 
John Hope, Joint Audit Committee 
 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended December 31 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Other reserves Retained earnings       Total equity    
 
Balance at January 1, 2013 $10,000 $162,229   $172,229 
 
Net Income - 33,659       33,659 
 
Other comprehensive income (note 18) - 535            535 
 

Balance at December 31, 2013 $10,000 $196,423   $206,423 

 
Net income - 9,762         9,762 
 
Other comprehensive loss (note 18) - (6,579)        (6,579)  
 

Balance at December 31, 2014 $10,000 $199,606   $209,606 

 
Other reserves (note 2.3) 
 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended December 31 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  2014 2013 
 
Billings processed (note 2.16) $1,306,637 $1,295,371 

 
Revenue: 

Premium revenue $318,851 $307,826 
Premiums ceded to reinsurers (22,222) (20,104) 
Net insurance premiums earned $296,629 $287,722 
 
Fees from self-insured plans 39,210 36,939 
Investment income (note 6) 14,744 31,395 
Investment income from the PIMCO Bond Fund (note 5) 3,567 3,652 
Commissions earned from reinsurers 3,229 3,218 
Other income 3,610 3,041 

Total revenues $360,989 $365,967 
 
Claims and expenses: 

Insurance claims incurred $234,511 $233,451  
General and administrative costs (note 19) 104,618 87,312 
Commissions and premium taxes 11,329 10,989 
Total claims and expenses $350,458 $331,752 
 

Income before tax $10,531 $34,215 

Income tax (769) (556) 

Net income $9,762 $33,659 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Pension plan and post-retirement benefits actuarial adjustment (6,579) 535 
(note 18) 

 

Comprehensive income $3,183 $34,194 
 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 10 

   2014 2013 
   
Cash flows from operating activities   
Net income for the year $9,762 $33,659 
Adjustments for   

Amortisation of property and equipment (note 10) 1,810 1,710 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11) 7,650 3,205 
Proceeds from sale of investments 19,354 48,203 
Purchase of investments (32,501) (54,740) 
Purchase of the PIMCO Bond Fund (9,318) (3,751) 
Realised and unrealised (gain) / loss on investments - net (note 6) (5,437) (26,012) 
Realised and unrealised (gain) / loss on the PIMCO Bond fund - net 

(note 5) 193 (450) 
Deferred taxes 318 (135) 
Amortisation of net premiums/discounts on bonds 44 33 
Employee benefits (note 17) 1,537 1,513 
Tax expense 449 691 

 ($6,139) $3,926 
Changes in non-cash working capital   

Trade and other receivables (note 8) (8,279) 4,103 
Amounts due from reinsurers (note 7) (9,601) (5,291) 
Prepaid expenses (note 9) (213) (353) 
Trade and other payables (note 14) 18,088 12,468 
Insurance liabilities (note 12) 15,585 15,215 
Members’ dues received in advance (note 13) 556 (204) 
Income taxes paid (700) (1,473) 
Income taxes recovered 765 - 
Restricted cash (7,954) - 

 $8,247 $24,465 

 $2,108 $28,391 
Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchases of property and equipment (note 10) (1,664) (1,083) 
Disposal of intangible assets (note 11) - 158 
Purchases of intangible assets (note 11) (3,769) (14,153) 
      
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ($3,325) $13,313 

   
Cash and cash equivalents (deficit) - Beginning of year 10,983 (2,331) 
   
Cash and cash equivalents - End of year $7,658 $10,982 
   Represented by:   
Cash and cash equivalents (note 6) 40,772 52,993 
Outstanding cheques (note 14) (33,114) (42,012) 

 $7,658 $10,983 

Interest paid $985 $901 
Interest received $732 $483 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31 
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1. Background 

PBC Health Benefits Society (“the Society”) (operating as Pacific Blue Cross) is incorporated and governed by 
the British Columbia Society Act (and licensed under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia) in 
Canada.  The Society is a not-for-profit organisation and is engaged in the business of providing extended 
health and dental benefits to its members.  Through its wholly owned subsidiary, British Columbia Life & 
Casualty Company (“BC Life”), the Society provides life and accidental death and dismemberment (“AD&D”) 
insurance; short-term and long-term disability coverage; critical illness coverage; individual life insurance; trip 
cancellation insurance; and baggage insurance.  MSA Business Services Ltd. (“BSL”) is a wholly owned 
subsidiary and is a holding company used for acquisitions. It was previously inactive and was used in 2014 for 
pending acquisition of the share of D.A. Townley and Associates Ltd. (note 24).  The Society is licensed in 
British Columbia and Yukon Territory.  The Society and BC Life are the sole investors in the PIMCO Canadian 
Tactical Bond Fund (“PIMCO Bond Fund”) which is consolidated into these financial statements and disclosed 
in notes 5 and 25 through 35.  The PIMCO Bond Fund’s objective is to seek absolute positive investment 
performance over a business cycle, with bond market-like volatility, consistent with prudent investment 
management. 

The Society is registered under the Income Tax Act as a not-for-profit society and, as such, is exempt from 
income tax.  BC Life, which is incorporated under the British Columbia Life & Casualty Company Act of 1958, is 
subject to federal and provincial income taxes.  The address of the registered office of the Society and BC Life 
is 4250 Canada Way, Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada. 

These consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  
May 5, 2015 which has sole authority to approve them.  The Board has the authority to amend the consolidated 
financial statements after issue. 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
Accounting policies relating to the PIMCO Bond Fund are set out in notes 5, and 25 through 34. 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation 

 
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Accounting Standards (“IFRS”) as defined by International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 1.  They have 
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through income and employee benefit obligations. 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Society’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements, are disclosed below and in note 3. 
 
All amounts in the notes are shown in thousands of Canadian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated. 

 
(a) The following standards have been adopted by the Society  for the first time for the financial 

year beginning on January 1, 2014 and could have a material impact on the Society: 

 

1. Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’ on offsetting financial assets 
and financial liabilities 

This amendment clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It must 
also be legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in 
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendment also considers settlement 
mechanisms. The amendment did not have a significant effect on the Society’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
2. Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’ on the recoverable amount disclosures for 

non-financial assets 

This amendment removed certain disclosures of the recoverable amount of cash-generating units 
(“CGUs”)  which had been included in IAS 36 by the issue of IFRS 13. The amendment did not 
have an effect on the Society’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

3. Amendment to IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ on the 
novation of derivatives and the continuation of hedge accounting 

This amendment considers legislative changes to ‘over-the-counter’ derivatives and the 
establishment of central counterparties. Under IAS 39, novation of derivatives to central 
counterparties would result in discontinuance of hedge accounting. The amendment provides 
relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a hedging instrument meets 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2014 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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specified criteria. The Society has applied the amendment and there has been no significant 
impact on the Society’s consolidated financial statements as a result. 
 

4. International Financial Reporting Interpretatoins Committee (“IFRIC”) 21, ‘Levies’ sets out 
the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy if that liability is within the scope of IAS 37, 
‘Provisions’ 

The interpretation addresses what the obligating event is that gives rise to pay a levy and when a 
liability should be recognised. The Society is not currently subjected to significant levies so the 
impact on the Society is not material.   
 
Other standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the financial year 
beginning on January 1, 2014 are not material to the Society. 
 

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted  

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning after January 1, 2014, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Society, except the following set out below: 
 

1. IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It 
replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement of financial 
instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three 
primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and fair value through profit or loss.    The basis of classification 
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or 
loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in OCI not recycling. 
There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model 
used in IAS 39. For financial liabilities, there were no changes to classification and measurement 
except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in OCI, for liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright 
line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between the hedged item and 
hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management actually uses 
for risk management purposes.  Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to 
that currently prepared under IAS 39. The standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018. Early adoption is not permitted by the Society’s regulator.. The Society is yet to 
assess IFRS 9’s full impact. 

 
2. IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ deals with revenue recognition and establishes 

principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. 
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability 



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2014 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service.  The standard replaces IAS 18, 
‘Revenue’ and IAS 11, ‘Construction contracts’ and related interpretations. The standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 and earlier application is not permitted by the 
Society’s regulator.  The Society is assessing the impact of IFRS 15.   

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to 
have a material impact on the Society’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

2.2.  Consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Society has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Society controls another entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Society. They are de-consolidated 
from the date on which control ceases. The subsidiaries which are consolidated in these financial 
statements are BC Life (all shares 100% owned by the Society), BSL (all shares 100% owned by the 
Society) and the PIMCO Bond Fund of which the Society and BC Life are the sole investors at December 
31, 2014 and 2013. 
 
The Society uses the purchase method to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The 
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Society’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
All inter-group transactions, balances and gains and losses on inter-group transactions are eliminated.   
 

2.3. Other reserves 
 

During 2007, an internally restricted fund was set aside for future funding of a foundation. The funds will 
be forwarded to a foundation to be established by the Society at a future date to be determined by the 
Board of Directors. 
 

2.4. Foreign currency translation 
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Society’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).  
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Canadian dollars ($) which is the 
Society’s functional and presentation currency. 
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(b) Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income.  Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income within general and administrative costs. 
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as 
available for sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the 
amortised cost of the security, and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.  Translation 
differences related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss; other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in equity. 
 
Translation differences on financial assets held at fair value through income are reported as part of 
investment income.   
 

2.5. Property and equipment and amortisation 
 

All classes of property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses.   
 
Amortisation is charged annually on a straight-line basis at the following rates: 
 
Leasehold improvements term of lease 
Furniture and equipment (including computer hardware) 10% - 33 1/3% 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted, if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment of property and equipment is 
determined by policy in note 2.8. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.  
These are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income in general and 
administrative costs. 
 

2.6. Intangible assets 
 
Computer software 
 
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 
unique software products controlled by the Society are recognised as intangible assets when the following 
criteria are met: 
 
§ It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use; 
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§ Management intends to complete the software product and use it; 
§ There is an ability to use the software product; 
§ It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits; 
§ Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the 

software product are available; and  
§ The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured. 

 
Directly attributable costs, which are capitalised as part of the software product, include the software 
development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of directly attributable overheads. 
 
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period. 
 
Amortisation 
 
Amortisation is charged annually on a straight-line basis at the following rates: 
 
Computer software                    10% - 100% 
Individual plan administrative system 10% 
Administration claims enrolment system 10% 
 
This software is used to adjudicate, bill and pay claims for all the Society’s product lines. 
 
Amortisation is currently recorded on that part of the individual plan administrative system or 
administration claims enrolment system that is in use.  Certain parts of the assets are still in the course of 
development and are not yet available for use, and therefore, amortisation is not recorded. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted, if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.  
These are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income in general and 
administrative costs. 
 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their useful lives, which 
do not exceed three years.  Impairment of intangible assets is under policy note 2.8. 
 
 

2.7. Financial assets 
 

The Society classifies its financial assets into the following categories: at fair value through income, and 
receivables. The classification is determined by management at initial recognition and depends on the 
purpose for which the assets were acquired.   Financial assets are reviewed at initial recognition for the 
appropriate classification based the nature of the asset.   
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2.7.1. Classification 

(a) Fair value through income 
 
This category has two subcategories: financial assets held-for-trading and those designated 
at fair value through income at inception. 
 
A financial asset that is held-for-trading is classified into the ’financial assets at fair value 
through income’ category at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 
shortterm, if it forms part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-
term profit-taking, or if so designated by management. 
 
Financial assets designated as ‘at fair value through income’ at inception are those that are: 
§ held in internal funds to match insurance and investment contracts liabilities that are 

linked to the changes in fair value of these assets.  The designation of these assets to be 
fair value through income eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or 
recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as ‘an accounting mismatch’) that would 
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on 
them on different bases; and 
 

§ managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.  Information about 
these financial assets is provided internally on a fair value basis to the Society’s key 
management personnel.  The Society’s investment strategy is to invest in equity and debt 
securities and to evaluate them with reference to their fair values.  Assets that are part of 
these portfolios are designated upon initial recognition ‘at fair value through income’ (see 
notes 5 and 6 for additional details on the Society’s investment portfolio structure). 

 
(b) Receivables 

 
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market other than those that the Society intends to sell in the 
shortterm or that it has designated as at fair value through income.  Receivables arising from 
insurance contracts are also classified in this category and are reviewed for impairment as 
part of the impairment review of receivables.  
 

2.7.2. Recognition and measurement 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the 
Society commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of all financial assets not 
carried at fair value through income, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their 
acquisition.  Financial assets carried at fair value through income are initially recognised at fair 
value, and transaction costs are expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from them have expired 
or where they have been transferred and the Society has also transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership. 
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Financial assets at fair value through income are subsequently carried at fair value with the 
change in fair value being recorded in investment income in the Consolidated Statement of 
Income and Comprehensive Income.  Receivables are carried at cost, as it does not materially 
differ from carrying at amortised cost. 
 
Interest is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.  Dividends are recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income when the Society’s right to receive payments is 
established. Both are included in investment income. 
 
See note 2.8 for the Society’s accounting policies relating to the impairment of assets. 

 
2.7.3.  Fair value of financial instruments 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. All fair value 
measurements relate to recurring measurements. Fair value measurements for investments are 
categorised into levels within a fair value hierarchy based on the nature of the valuation inputs 
(Level 1, 2 or 3). 
 
The three levels are based on the priority of inputs to the respective valuation technique. The fair 
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). An asset’s or liability’s 
classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of significant input to its 
valuation. The input levels are defined as follows: 
 
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 
The Society defines active markets based on the frequency of valuation and any restrictions or 
illiquidity on disposition of the underlying investment and trading volumes. Assets measured at fair 
value and classified as Level 1 include Canadian and US common shares. Fair value is based on 
market price data for identical assets obtained from the investment custodian, investment 
managers or dealer markets. The Society does not adjust the quoted price for such investments. 
 
Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable either directly 
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) 
 
Level 2 inputs include observable market information, including quoted prices for assets in 
markets that are considered less active. Assets measured at fair value and classified as Level 2 
include short-term investments, bonds and pooled funds. Fair value for short-term investments 
and bonds is based on or derived from market price data for same or similar instruments obtained 
from the investment custodian, investment managers or dealer markets. Fair value for the pooled 
funds is determined based on the market values of the underlying investments, calculated by 
discounting scheduled cash flows, subject to adjustments for liquidity and credit risk. 
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Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant 
to the estimated fair value of the assets or liabilities 
 
Level 3 assets and liabilities would include financial instruments whose values are determined 
using internal pricing models, discounted cash flows methodologies, or similar techniques that are 
not based on observable market data, as well as instruments for which the determination of 
estimated fair value requires significant management judgement or estimation.  
 
The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is considered to be the carrying value 
when they are of short duration or when the investment’s interest rate approximates current 
observable market rates.  Where other financial assets and financial liabilities are of longer duration, 
then fair value is determined using the discounted cash flow method using discount rates based on 
adjusted observable market rates. The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, trade and other payables, income tax receivable, and members’ dues in advance 
approximate their carrying values due to their short-term nature.  
 

2.7.4. Determination of fair value 

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial 
assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.  This 
includes listed equity securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges.   
 
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and 
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry society, pricing service or regulatory 
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis.  If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. 
 
For example, a market is inactive when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in 
the bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions. 
 
For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.  In these 
techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial 
instruments. 
 
The carrying values less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  The fair value of financial liabilities for 
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to the Society for similar financial instruments. 
 
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial 
asset is not active, the Society establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These 
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making 
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. 
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2.7.5. Valuation of investments in other funds 

The Society’s investments in pooled funds (”Pool Funds”) are subject to the terms and conditions 
of the respective Pool Fund’s offering documentation. The investments in the Pool Funds are 
valued based on the latest available redemption price of such units for each Pool Fund, as 
determined by the Pool Funds administrators. The Society reviews the details of the reported 
information obtained from the Pool Funds and considers: 
 
• the liquidity of the Pool Fund or its underlying investments; 
• the value date of the net asset value (“NAV”) provided; 
• any restrictions on redemptions; and 
• the basis of accounting and, in instances where the basis of accounting is other than fair 

value, fair valuation information provided by the Pool Fund’s advisors. 
 
If necessary, the Society makes adjustments to the NAV of various Pool Funds to obtain the best 
estimate of fair value. Other net changes in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive 
Income include the change in fair value of each Pool Fund. 
 

2.7.6. Real estate fund valuation basis 

All assets are in Canadian real estate diversified across Canada.  The valuation method followed 
by the investment manager is that all assets that have been owned by the Society longer than a 
year are appraised quarterly by combination of external appraisers and management of the real 
estate fund on rotation basis. 

 
2.8 Impairment of assets 

 
(a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

 
A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (a ”loss” event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.   
 
Individually significant financial assets are assessed for impairment on an individual basis.  The 
remaining financial assets are included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on non-equity instruments has been incurred on 
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.  
 
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
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recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. 
 

(b) Impairment of other non-financial assets 
 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment at least annually or whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Intangible assets not yet available for use are required to be tested annually for impairment. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 
 

2.9. Offsetting financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

2.10. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities include outstanding cheques, and trade and other payables.  Financial liabilities are 
initially measured at fair value and then carried at amortised cost.  A liability is removed from the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 

2.11. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase, and bank 
overdrafts. 
 

2.12. Insurance and investment contracts - classification 
 
The Society issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.  Insurance contracts are 
those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk.  Such contracts may also transfer financial risk.  As 
a general guideline, the Society defines a significant insurance risk as the possibility of having to pay 
benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable if the 
insured event did not occur. 
 

2.13. Insurance contracts  
 
(a) Long-term disability insurance contracts  

 
These annual contracts insure events associated with human life (for example, disability) over a long 
duration.  Long-term insurance disability contracts protect Society members in the event of long-term 
disability. 
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Premiums are recognised as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder.  Premiums 
are shown before deduction of commission.  Benefits are recorded as an expense when they are 
incurred. 
 
A liability for contractual benefits that are expected to be paid in the future is recorded when the claim 
is incurred.  The liability is determined as the sum of the expected discounted value of the projected 
benefit payments and the future administration expenses that are directly related to the claim.  The 
liability is based on assumptions as to mortality, morbidity, claims experience, expenses and 
investment income.  A margin for adverse deviation is included in the assumptions. These 
assumptions may be revised depending on emerging experience and changing expectations 
regarding future experience. 
 
The liabilities are recalculated at each end of the reporting period using the assumptions established 
during the year and on a consistent basis with prior years. The liabilities are determined in accordance 
with Canadian accepted actuarial practice and any requirements of the Financial Institutions 
Commission (“FICOM”) of British Columbia. As confirmed by guidance provided by Canadian Institute 
of Actuaries (“CIA”), the current Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”) of valuation of insurance 
contracts satisfies IFRS 4, Insurance contracts’ for eligibility for use under IFRS. 
 

(b) Short-term insurance contracts 
 
Short-term insurance contracts protect the Society’s members from losses arising from life, AD&D and 
critical illness risks.  They also protect customers from losses on short-term disability due to illness, 
injury or disability.  
 
In addition, short-term insurance contracts protect the Society’s members from the claims from 
extended health and dental benefits.  They protect the customer from costs of such services and allow 
them to maintain their current level of income. They also protect customers from costs due to illness 
and sickness.  
 
For these contracts, revenue (earned premiums) is recognised proportionally over the period of 
coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the 
balance sheet date is reported as unearned premium. Premiums are shown before deductions of 
sales and service fees and are gross of premium taxes. 
 

(c) Reinsurance contracts held 
 
Contracts entered into by the Society with reinsurers under which the Society is compensated for 
losses on one or more contracts issued by the Society are classified as reinsurance contracts held.   
 
The benefits to which the Society is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as 
reinsurance assets.  These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as 
longer term receivables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the 
related reinsured insurance contracts.  Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured 
consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance 
with the terms of each reinsurance contract.  Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable 
for reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense when due. 
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The Society assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on a regular basis.  If there is objective 
evidence that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount of the 
reinsurance asset to the recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.  The Society gathers the objective evidence that a 
reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets held at amortised 
cost.  The impairment loss is calculated following the same method used for these financial assets.  
These processes are described in note 2.8. 
 

(d) Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investment contracts 
 
Receivables and payables are recognised when due.  These include amounts due to and from 
agents, brokers and insurance contract holders. 
 
If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Society reduces the 
carrying amount of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.  The Society gathers the objective 
evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted for loans and 
receivables.  The impairment loss is calculated under the same method used for these financial 
assets.  These processes are described in note 2.8. 
 

2.14. Income tax 
 
The Society is not subject to income tax; however, taxes apply to its wholly owned subsidiaries, BC Life 
and BSL.  
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  Tax is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
in OCI or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised in OCI or directly in equity, 
respectively. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period where the Society’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.  
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  
However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss, it is not accounted for.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Society controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

 
2.15. Employee benefits 

 
(a) Pension obligations 
 

The Society operates various pension schemes. The Society has both defined benefit and defined 
contribution plans. 
 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee 
will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation. Plan assets are held in a fund that is legally separated from the entity. The Society 
is responsible for the governance of the plan, including setting the investment policy for the assets of 
the fund, and ensuring that the plan is administered in line with legal and regulatory requirements and 
the Plan Text.  The plan is a designated plan under the Income Tax Act and is regulated by FICOM, 
certain funding restrictions apply, and no special payments were permitted to the plan as of the last 
valuation (December 31, 2011). Therefore, there is no minimum funding requirement as defined in 
IFRIC 14. 
 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Society pays fixed contributions into a 
Fund that is legally separated from the entity. The Society has no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the defined contribution fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.  
 
The liability recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligations at the end of the financial reporting period less 
the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality 
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have 
terms to maturity that approximate the terms of the related pension liability. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are charged or credited to OCI in the year of the adjustment. 
 
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income. 
 
For defined contribution plans, the Society pays contributions to privately administered pension plans 
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Society has no further payment obligations once 
the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses 
when they are due. Pre-paid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in the future payments is available. 
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(b) Other post-employment obligations 

The Society provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to its retirees. The entitlement to these 
benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the 
completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs for these benefits are accrued over the 
period of employment using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension 
plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited to OCI. Independent qualified actuaries value these obligations 
annually. 
 

(c) Termination benefits 

 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Society 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; 
or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  
Benefits falling due are included in trade and other payables.   
 

(d) Profit-sharing and bonus plans 

 
The Society recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula 
that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Society’s members after certain adjustments.  
The Society recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that 
has created a constructive obligation. 
 

2.16. Billings processed 
 

Billings processed represent all billings rendered by the Society.  These billings are for insurance 
contracts and self-insured plans plus claims costs. 
 

2.17. Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue comprises the fair value for services, net of applicable taxes, after eliminating revenue within the 
Society.  Revenue is recognised as follows: 
 
(a) Rendering of services 

 
For insurance contracts, revenue (premium revenue) is recognised proportionally over the period of 
coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the 
balance sheet date is reported as members’ dues received in advance.  Premiums are shown before 
deductions of sales and service fees and are gross of premium taxes. 
 
Fees from self-insured plan revenue consist primarily of administrative fees resulting from 
Administrative Services Only (“ASO”) contracts.  The Society manages the benefits of employees on 
behalf of a client for a service fee based on claims paid. A fixed deposit is received at the setup of the 
contract and any amounts paid (including the administration fee) are fully reimbursed by the client. 
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Revenue arising from ASO and other services offered is recognised in the accounting period in which 
the services are rendered. 
 

(b) Short-term insurance contracts 
 
These contracts include accident and sickness insurance contracts for the protection of the Society’s 
insured members from the consequences of events that would affect the ability of the individual or 
his/her dependents to fund dental and medical costs.  There are no maturity or surrender benefits. 
 
For these contracts, revenue (earned premiums) is recognised proportionally over the period of 
coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the 
balance sheet date is reported as unearned premium. Premiums are shown before deductions of 
sales and service fees and are gross of premium taxes. 
 

(c) Interest income and expenses 
 

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments, including financial 
instruments measured at fair value through income, are recognised within investment income (notes 5 
and 6) in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income using the effective 
interest rate method.   
 
When a receivable is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, 
being the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the 
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
 

(d) Dividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

2.18. Leases 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
The Society leases certain property and equipment.  The Society does not have substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership and these leases are therefore classified as operating leases. 
 

2.19 Structured entities 
 

IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’ requires entities to disclose significant judgements and 
assumptions made in determining whether the entity controls, jointly controls, significantly influences or 
has some other interests in other entities. Entities are also required to provide more disclosures around 
certain ‘structured entities’. Adoption of the standard has impacted the Society’s level of disclosures in 
certain of the above-noted areas, but has not impacted the Society’s financial position or results of 
operations. The Society’s interest in the PIMCO Bond Fund (note 2.1) continues to require consolidation 
under IFRS 10.   
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A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant 
factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks 
only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. A structured entity 
often has some or all of the following features or attributes: (a) restricted activities, (b) a narrow and well-
defined objective, such as to provide investment opportunities for investors by passing on risks and 
rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity to investors, (c) insufficient equity to permit the 
structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated financial support and (d) financing in the form 
of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create concentrations of credit or other risks 
(tranches). 
 
The Society considers its investments in funds, except for the PIMCO Bond Fund, to be investments in 
unconsolidated structured entities. The Society invests in funds whose objectives range from achieving 
medium to long-term capital growth and whose investment strategy does not include the use of leverage. 
The investee funds are managed by unrelated asset managers and apply various investment strategies to 
accomplish their respective investment objectives. The investee funds finance their operations by issuing 
redeemable shares which are puttable at the holder’s option and entitle the holder to a proportional stake 
in the respective fund’s net assets. The Society holds redeemable shares in each of its investee funds. 
The change in fair value of each fund is included in the Consolidated Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income in ‘investment income/(loss)’.  
 
Please refer to 2.1 for a discussion of the PIMCO Bond Fund and the accounting for the Society’s interest 
in these consolidated financial statements. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  The 
Society makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year. 
 
(a) The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts 

 
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the 
Society’s most critical accounting estimate. 
 

(b) Estimate of future benefit payments arising from long-term disability insurance claims 
 

Products covered in this area are long-term disability for group clients.  The determination of the 
liabilities under long-term disability is dependent on estimates made by Society. 
 

(c) Estimate of future benefit payments and premiums arising from short-term insurance claims 
 

Products covered in this category include life, AD&D, and critical illness benefits.  The short-term nature 
of these claims means that movement in claims development assumptions is generally not significant.  
The development patterns are monitored closely to maintain the validity of the assumptions and, hence, 
the validity of the estimation of insurance liabilities. 
 

(d) Estimate of reserves for short-term health and dental contracts 
 

Products covered in this area are health and dental for groups and individual members.  The short-term 
nature of the Society’s health and dental contracts means that movement in claims development 
assumptions is generally not significant.  The development patterns are kept under constant review to 
maintain the validity of the assumptions and, hence, the validity of the estimation of recognised 
insurance liabilities. 
 

Assumptions used in accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The Society’s valuation methods involve the use of best estimates for the following assumptions: mortality, 
morbidity, investment yields, expense levels and provision for adverse deviation.  Actual experience is 
monitored against these assumptions to ensure that they remain reasonable. 
 
Any change in assumptions will cause a corresponding change in insurance liabilities, which is recognised 
in income immediately.  The following outlines the significant assumptions used and the methods in arriving 
at these estimates: 
 
(a) Mortality 

The mortality assumption varies by type of contract and is based on the Society’s aggregate experience 
or on industry experience modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if appropriate. 
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(b) Morbidity 

The rate of morbidity refers to the incidence of accident and sickness, and the termination of disability 
due to death or recovery. This assumption is based on the Society’s aggregate experience or industry 
experience modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if appropriate. 
 

(c) Expenses 

Amounts are included in insurance liabilities to provide for the cost of administering incurred claims.  
Where applicable, allowances for future expenses are based on Society experience projected into the 
future with an allowance for inflation consistent with the investment yield. 
 

(d) Investment yields 

The amount and timing of cash flows arising from both the insurance liabilities and the assets 
supporting them are projected.  These cash flows are combined with reinvestment rates, derived from 
the current economic outlook and the Society’s investment policy, to establish expected rates of return 
for all future years, including reasonable provisions for asset default. 
 

(e) Provision for adverse deviation 

A margin is included in each assumption to recognise the uncertainty in establishing best estimate 
assumptions, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort that 
insurance liabilities are adequate to pay future benefits.  A range of allowable margins is prescribed by 
the CIA.  As the experience of future accounting periods emerges, any provision not required to cover 
adverse deviations will be included in income for that period. 
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4.  Insurance risk management 

The Society issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.  This section summarises 
these risks and the way the Society manages them. 
 
4.1 Insurance risk 

 
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim.  By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is 
random and therefore unpredictable. 
 
For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and 
provisioning, the principal risk that the Society faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual 
claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities.  This could occur 
because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits is greater than estimated.  Insurance events 
are random, and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from 
the level established using statistical techniques.   
 
Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative 
variability about the expected outcome will be.  In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be 
affected by a change in any subset of the portfolio.  The Society has developed its insurance 
underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these 
categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected 
outcome. 
 
Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of the type and amount 
of risk, geographical location and the type of industry covered. 
 
(a) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 
 

The Society is liable for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the 
loss is discovered after the end of the contract term. A large element of the claims provision relates 
to incurred but not reported claims (“IBNR”).   
 
The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims.  The Society 
takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims 
exposures.  However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final 
outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established.  The liability for these 
contracts comprises a provision for IBNR and a provision for reported claims not yet paid.  
 
The Society takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its 
claims exposures.  However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that 
the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established.      
 

(b) Process used to decide on assumptions 
 

The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to that 
disclosed in note 3.  However, the short-term nature of the mortality and morbidity risks makes the 
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Society’s estimate of the liability covering short-term insurance contracts less uncertain than in the 
case of long-term contracts. 
 
This exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. Details of the assumptions used 
are included in note 3. 
 

4.2  Long-term disability contracts 
 

(a) Frequency and severity of claims 
 

For contracts where the insured risk is long-term disability, the most significant factors are rates of 
incidence of disability and rates of termination from disability.  These factors are referred to as 
morbidity risk.  
 
At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the 
Society.  However, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit 
payments on a portfolio basis. 
 
The risk of disability will vary by industry.  Undue concentration of risk by industry will therefore 
increase the risk of a change in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of employees in a 
given industry, with significant effects on the overall insurance risk. 
 
The risk exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 
 
Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the industry.  
Historical data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry will increase the number of 
claims for disability benefits as well as reduce the rate of recovery from disability.  The Society 
attempts to manage this risk through its underwriting, claims handling and reinsurance policy.  The 
amount of disability benefit cover provided per individual is restricted to a maximum of 75% of the 
individual’s monthly income.   
 
The Society charges for morbidity risk on a monthly basis for all insurance contracts.  It has the right 
to alter these charges annually based on its morbidity experience and hence minimise its exposure 
to morbidity risk.  Delays in implementing increases in charges and market restraints over the extent 
of the increase may reduce its mitigating effect.  The Society manages these risks through its 
underwriting strategy and reinsurance arrangements. 
 
The underwriting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified in 
terms of type of risk and the level of insured benefits.  For example, the Society balances morbidity 
risk across its portfolio.  The Society has reinsurance on any single life insured.  The Society 
reinsures the excess of the insured benefit over risks under an excess of loss reinsurance 
arrangement.  It also has reinsurance in place for morbidity risk.   
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The table below presents the concentration of insured benefits across bands of insured benefits per 
individual long-term disability insured.  The benefit insured figures are shown gross and net of the 
reinsurance contracts described above.   
 

 Total benefits insured 

Monthly benefits 
insured per life at 
the end of 2014 

 
 

Before reinsurance 

 
 

After reinsurance 
$0-1,000 $334 0.3% $133 0.4% 

$1,000-2,000 $11,998 15.2% $4,799 17.4% 

$2,000-3,000 $26,518 33.5% $10,713 38.8% 

$3,000-4,000 $20,008 25.3% $7,285 26.4% 

$4,000+ $20,313 25.7% $4,682 17.0% 

Total $79,171 100.0% $27,612 100.0% 
 
The risk spread has not changed significantly from last year. 
 

 Total benefits insured 

Monthly benefits 
insured per life at 
the end of 2013 

 
 

Before reinsurance 

 
 

After reinsurance 
$0-1,000 $255 0.3% $102 0.4% 

$1,000-2,000 $11,682 14.7% $4,673 17.0% 

$2,000-3,000 $27,211 34.4% $10,988 39.9% 

$3,000-4,000 $19,467 24.5% $7,035 25.6% 

$4,000+ $20,696 26.1% $4,718 17.1% 

Total $79,311 100.0% $27,516 100.0% 
 

 
The Society has factored the impact of contract holders’ behaviour into the assumptions used to 
measure these liabilities (see note 3). 
 
(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments 

 
Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments for long-term disability insurance contracts 
arises from the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of morbidity. 
 
For incurred disability income claims, it is necessary to estimate the rates of recovery from disability 
for future years.  Standard industry recovery tables and CIA tables are modified for the actual 
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experience of the Society.  The influence of economic circumstances on the actual recovery rate for 
individual contracts is a source of uncertainty for these estimates. 

 
(c) Process used to decide on assumptions 

 
For long-term disability insurance contracts, the assumptions used to determine the liabilities are 
updated at each reporting date to reflect the latest estimates.  Assumptions used in the estimates 
include morbidity, mortality investment yields, expenses and provision for adverse deviation as 
outlined in note 3. 
 
The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note as outlined in note 3 are as 
follows: 
 
� Morbidity 

 
The rate of incidence of disability is based on the Society’s aggregate experience. The rate of 
recovery from disability is derived from industry experience studies, adjusted where appropriate 
for the Society’s own experience. 
 

� Mortality 
 
The mortality assumption is based on industry experience modified to reflect the Society‘s 
emerging experience as appropriate. 
 

� Projected investment yields 
 
Projected investment returns affect the assumed level of future benefits due to the contract 
holders and the selection of the appropriate discount rate. 
 

� Claims expense level and inflation 
 
Allowances for claims expenses are based on the Societys experience projected into the future 
with an allowance for inflation consistent with the investment yield.  The current level of 
expenses is taken as an appropriate expense base. 
 

� Tax 
 
It has been assumed that current tax legislation and rates continue unaltered. 

 
(d) Change in assumptions 
 

The Society did not materially change its assumptions from the prior year for the insurance 
contracts disclosed in this note. 

  



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2014 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 34 

 
(e) Sensitivity analysis 

 
Long-term disability contracts  

This table shows the financial effect on net income after tax if the morbidity and expenses were to 
change independently of each other without management action. 

  Change in after-tax income 
 
Variable 

Change in 
variable 

 
2014 

 
2013 

Morbidity +5% ($847) ($678) 
Expenses +5% ($141) ($119) 
Morbidity -5% $819 $658 
Expenses -5% $141 $119 

 
Investment yields (note 21) 
 
The above analysis is based on a change in one assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, a change in interest rate, change in market values, and change in future 
mortality. 
 
A sensitivity analysis for financial risks is presented in note 21 together with the assets backing the 
associated liabilities of the contracts. 
 

4.3  Life and short-term disability insurance contracts 
 
(a) Frequency and severity of claims 

 
Under life and short-term disability insurance contracts, the most significant factors are rates of 
morbidity and mortality. 
 
At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the 
Society.  However, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit 
payments on a portfolio basis. 
 
The risk exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 
 
The risk of death and disability will vary by industry.  Undue concentration of risk by industry will 
therefore increase the risk of a change in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of 
employees in a given industry, with significant effects on the overall insurance risk. 
 
Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the industry.  
Historical data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry will increase the number of 
claims for disability benefits as well as reduce the rate of recovery from disability.  The Society 
attempts to manage this risk through its underwriting, claims handling and reinsurance policy.  The 
amount of disability benefit cover provided per individual is restricted to a maximum of 75% of the 
individual’s monthly income.  Excess of loss reinsurance contracts have been purchased by the 
Society to limit the maximum loss on any one life to $250. 
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The following table reports the year-end aggregated insured benefits for the in-force life and 
disability insurance contracts by benefit.  Disability risk is disclosed as the amount payable per 
annum under the terms of the in-force insurance contract. 
 

 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 
2014 by type of 
insurance 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

Life & Optional Life $8,686,532 65.4%   $7,512,090 65.1%   
Dependent Life $107,453 0.8%   $107,453 0.9%   
AD&D $3,359,464 25.3%   $2,812,496 24.4%   
Optional AD&D $126,147 0.9%   $96,010 0.8%   
Individual Products $875,685 6.6%   $875,685 7.6%   
Critical Illness $132,935 1.0%   $132,935 1.2%   
STD   $6,881 100%   $6,584 100% 

 
The concentration is substantially unchanged from the prior year. 

 
 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 
2013 by type of 
insurance 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

Life & Optional Life $8,640,235 66.0%   $7,466,275 65.2%   
Dependent Life $104,519 0.8%   $104,519 0.9%   
AD&D $3,260,611 24.9%   $2,826,573 24.7%   
Optional AD&D $129,367 1.0%   $99,865 0.8%   
Individual Products $819,652 6.3%   $819,652 7.2%   
Critical Illness $133,070 1.0%   $133,070 1.2%   
STD   $7,450 100%   $7,162 100% 

 
(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 

 
Other than for the testing of the adequacy of the liability representing the unexpired risk at the end 
of the reporting period, there is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years 
because these contracts have short duration.   
 

(c) Process used to decide on assumptions 
 
The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to that 
disclosed in note 3.  However, the short-term nature of the mortality and morbidity risks makes the 
Society’s estimate of the liability covering short-term insurance contracts less uncertain than in the 
case of long-term contracts. 
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The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follows: 
 
� Mortality 

 
The rate of mortality is based on the Society’s aggregate experience, or on industry experience 
studies, adjusted where appropriate for the Society’s own experience.  
 

� Morbidity 
 
The rate of morbidity is based on the Society’s aggregate experience. 

 
� Claims expense level and inflation 

 
Allowances for claims expenses are based on the Society’s experience.  If applicable, claims 
expenses are projected into the future with an allowance for inflation consistent with the 
investment yield. 
 

(d) Changes in assumptions 
 

The Society did not materially change its assumptions from prior year for the insurance contracts 
disclosed in this note. 
 

(e) Sensitivity analysis 
 

Short-duration insurance contracts 
 
  Change in after-tax income  
 
Variable 

Change in 
variable 

 
2014 

 
2013 

Mortality +5% ($342) ($306) 
Morbidity +5% ($155) ($152) 
Expenses +5% ($30) ($25) 
Mortality   -5% $345 $310 
Morbidity   -5% $154 $151 
Expenses   -5% $30 $25 

 
Investment yields (note 21) 
 
The above analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, changes in expenses and future mortality. 
 
Short-duration life insurance contracts are not exposed to financial risks. 
 

  



PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2014 
 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 37 

4.4 Short-duration health and dental contracts 
 
(a) Frequency and severity of claims 
 

These contracts are mainly issued to employers to insure their commitments to their employees in 
terms of employee benefit plans.  The risk is affected by the nature of the industry in which the 
employer operates, in addition to the factors in note 3.  The risk of claims will vary by industry and 
plan design.  
 
 
Insurance risk under these plans is dependent on the claiming patterns of the covered employee.  
The Society underwrites these plans on premiums set for a 12-month period which permits 
premium adjustment on an annual basis.  The Society reinsures out of country claims over a 
certain dollar threshold with a reinsurer depending on the line of benefit. 
 
Claims risk is controlled by means of pre-authorisation of claims, benefit limits and fee schedules. 
The specific processes used would vary by group depending on plan arrangements. 

 
 Before Reinsurance After Reinsurance 
2014 by type of insurance Morbidity Risk Morbidity Risk 

Dental $82,181  31.6% $82,181  31.9% 
EHC $121,446  46.5% $120,515  46.5% 
Individual Products $57,914  21.9% $56,615  21.6% 

Total $261,541  100.0% $259,311 100.0% 
   

 
 Before Reinsurance After Reinsurance 
2013 by type of insurance Morbidity Risk Morbidity Risk 

Dental $80,535  31.8% $80,535  32.1% 
EHC $118,718  46.9% $117,894  46.9% 
Individual Products $53,696  21.3% $52,701  21.0% 

Total $252,949  100.0% $251,130 100.0% 
 
(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 

 
Other than for the testing of the adequacy of the liability representing the unexpired risk at the end 
of the reporting period, there is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years 
because these contracts have short duration.  The influence of economic circumstances on the 
actual recovery rate for individual contracts is the key source of uncertainty for these estimates. 

 
(c) Process used to decide on assumptions 

The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follows: 
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� Morbidity 
 

The rate of incidence and size of claims is derived from experience studies, adjusted where 
appropriate for the Society’s own experience. 
 
The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to 
those disclosed in note 3.  However, the short-term nature of the mortality risk underwritten 
makes the Society’s estimate of the liability covering death benefit payments less uncertain than 
in the case of long-term contracts. 
 
Similar to the approach for the assumptions underlying the insurance liabilities, the choice of 
selected results for each accident year depends on an assessment of the technique that has 
been most appropriate to observed historical developments. 
 

(d) Changes in assumptions 

The Society did not materially change its assumptions from the prior year for the insurance 
contracts disclosed in this note. 

 
(e) Sensitivity analysis 

 
Short-duration health and dental contracts 
 

  Change in after-tax income  
 
Variable 

Change in 
variable 

 
2014 

 
2013 

Morbidity +5%  ($1,264) ($1,361) 
Expenses +5% ($50) ($50) 
Morbidity -5% $1,264 $1,361 
Expenses -5% $50 $50 

 
The above analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, changes in morbidity and expenses. 
 
Short-duration insurance health and dental contracts are not exposed to financial risks. 
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5. Investment in the PIMCO Bond Fund 

The following table shows the assets and liabilities of the PIMCO Bond Fund which is wholly owned by the 
Society and BC Life.  Further detail on these items can be found in notes 25 through 34. 
 

 2014 2013 
 $ $ 

PIMCO assets:   
Investments  172,403 163,643 
Cash 596 644 
Deposit with counterparties 1,185 435 
Foreign currency  486 398 
Accrued interest receivable 820 915 
Recovery for swap income 3 2 
Derivative Financial Instruments   

Exchange –traded or centrally cleared 44 106 
Over the counter 846 394 

Total assets $176,383 $166,537 
   

PIMCO liabilities:   
Derivative Financial Instruments   

Exchange traded or centrally cleared 126 69 
Over the counter 1,014 374 

Accrued administration fees 7 6 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities - 1 
Deposit from counterparties 301 277 

Total liabilities $1,448 $727 

Net PIMCO investments $174,935 $165,810 
   

 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Investment income earned on:   
Fixed income pooled funds 4,318  3,751 
Net realised / unrealised gain / (loss) (188)  450 

Total investment income  $4,130 $4,201 

Less investment expenses (563) (549) 

 $3,567 $3,652 
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All investments are Level 2 and there were no transfers between Levels during the years ended December 
31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. 
 2014 2013 
Category and Subcategory $ $ 
Investments, at Fair Value   
Canada   
 Federal Government Securities 84,148 87,885 
 Provincial Securities 11,770 11,671 
 Asset-Backed Securities - 590 
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 28,878 18,512 
 Mortgage-Backed Securities 4,623 3,163 
France   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 473 958 
Ireland   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 740 812 
Italy   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes - 1,492 
Japan   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes - 1,473 
Luxembourg   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 921 979 
Netherlands   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 4,005 3,347 
Norway   
       Corporate Bonds & Notes 478 - 
 Sovereign Issues 2,452 2,481 
Switzerland   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 851 - 
United Kingdom   
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 6,514 6,315 
 Mortgage-Backed Securities 6 214 
United States   
 Asset-backed Securities 463 - 
 Corporate Bonds & Notes 13,533 14,823 
 Mortgage-Backed Securities 208 217 
Virgin Islands (British)   
       Corporate Bonds & Notes 507 - 
Short-Term Instruments   
       Reverse Purchase Agreements 9,900 - 
 Canada Treasury Bills - 8,393 
       Certificates of Deposit 995 - 
 US Treasury Bills 938 318 
 
Total Investments $172,403 $163,643 
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 Year Ended 
12/31/2014` 

Year Ended 
12/31/2013 

Cash flows from (used for) operating activities:   
Increase (Decrease in Net Assets                       $4,125                  $4,214 
Adjustments to reconcile Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of the Fund to net cash from (used 
for) operating activities: 
Purchases of securities (330,409) (177,084) 
Proceeds from sales of securities 324,259 173,625 
Deposits with counterparty (750) (19) 
Receivable for swap income (1) (2) 
Interest receivable 95 49 
Exchange-traded or centrally cleared derivatives (1,516) 1,616 
Over the counter derivatives (30) (1,091) 
Payable for swap interest 0 (2) 
Deposits from counterparty 24 (400) 
Accrued administration fees 1 (9) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1) 1 
Payments on foreign currency transactions (879) (26) 
Net realized (gain) on sale of investments (1,334) (1,280) 
Net realized (gain) on exchange-traded or centrally cleared financial derivative 
instruments 

(383) (880) 

Net realized loss on over the counter financial derivative instruments 398 1,081 
Net realized loss on foreign currency transactions 842 52 
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on investments (1,230) 954 
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on exchange-traded or centrally 
cleared financial derivative instruments 

2,018 (708) 

Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on over the counter financial 
derivative instruments 

(180) 345 

Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on translation of assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

42 (22) 

Net amortization (accretion) on investments (46) (279) 
Net cash from (used for) operating activities (4,955) 135 
 
Cash flows from (used for) financing activities: 
Proceeds from sale of investments 

 
 

5,000 

 
 

0 
Cash distributions paid to holders of investments 0 0 
Proceeds from sale-buyback transactions 1,810 0 
Payments on sale-buyback transactions (1,810) 0 
Net cash from (used for) financing activities 5,000 0 
 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Foreign Currency 

 
45 

 
135 

 
Cash and Foreign Currency: 
Beginning of year 

 
 

1,042 

 
 

911 
Foreign exchange (loss) on cash (5) (4) 
End of year                   $1,082                 $1,042 
 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 

  

Interest expense paid from financing activities                         $1                        $1 
Interest received, net of foreign withholding taxes from operating activities   $4,583                 $4,087 
 
* A zero balance may reflect actual amounts rounding to less than one thousand. 
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6.   Cash and investments 
 

 Cash and investments included on the Consolidated Balance Sheet is as follows 
 
 

  

 2014 2013 
 $ $ 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 40,772 52,995 
   
Fixed income investments maturing in    

Less than one year 3,427 140 
One to five years 4,517 4,590 
More than five years 4,540 3,816 

Fixed income pooled funds 3,407 3,126 

Total fixed income investments $15,891 $11,672 
   
Real estate fund $43,767 $42,356 
   
Equity investments   
Equities 56,378 55,110 
Equity pooled funds 82,133 70,491 

Total equity investments $138,511 $125,601 
   
Total investments $198,169 $179,629 
   

Total cash and cash equivalents and 
investments $238,941 $232,624 
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Net investment income includes: 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Investment income earned on:   
Fixed income investments and pooled funds 364 343 
Cash equivalents 760 579 
Real estate fund 2,031 1,335 

 $3,155 $2,257 
   
Dividend income earned on:   

Equities and equity pooled funds $7,818 $4,802 
   
Unrealised gain (loss):   

Fixed income 547 (447) 
Real estate (634) 1,049 
Equities and equity pooled funds 942 21,650 

Total unrealised net gain  $855 $22,252 
 
Realised gain: 
 Fixed income 92 187 
Equities and equity pooled funds 4,473 3,503 

Total realised net gain $4,565 $3,690 
   
Investment expenses (682) (705) 
Interest paid to groups (967) (901) 
 ($1,649) ($1,605) 
   

Total investment income $14,744 $31,395 
 

The effective annual interest rate of the fixed income investment portfolio at December 31, 2014 was 2.59% 
(2013:  2.9%). 
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Fair value hierarchy 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; 
and 

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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The following tables illustrate the classification of the Society's financial instruments within the fair value 
hierarchy as at December 31, 2014 and 2013: 

Financial assets at fair value as at December 31, 2014 

 
Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     

Equities 56,378 - - 56,378 
Equity pooled funds - 82,133 - 82,133 
Fixed income investments - 12,484 - 12,484 
Fixed income pooled funds - 3,407 - 3,407 
Real estate fund - - 43,767 43,767 

 $56,378 $98,024 $43,767   $198,169 
 
Financial assets at fair value as at December 31, 2013 

 
Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     

Equities 68,859 - - 68,859 
Equity pooled funds - 56,742 - 56,742 
Fixed income investments - 8,546 - 8,546 
Fixed income pooled funds - 3,126 - 3,126 
Real estate fund - - 42,356 42,356 

 $68,859 $68,414 $42,356   $179,629 
 
The Society uses the following techniques to determine the fair value measurements of instruments 
categorized as Level 2: 
 
Equity pooled funds are valued based upon the market price of the underlying actively traded securities in the 
pooled funds. 
 
The fair value of fixed income investments was determined by obtaining quoted market prices or executable 
dealer quotes for identical or similar instruments in active markets, or other inputs that are observable or can 
be corroborated by observable inputs. 
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The Society has financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and has provided an 
analysis of movements in Level 3 instruments: 

2014 $ 
Opening balance 42,356 
Total investment income,gains and losses recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income 

1,411 

Closing balance $43,767 
  
2013 $ 

Opening balance 32,080 
Total investment income, gains and losses recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income 

2,384 

Purchases 7,892 

Closing balance $42,356 
 
There were no significant transfers of financial assets between any of the levels of fair value hierarchy 
classifications in 2014 and 2013 except as disclosed. 

Level 3 investments are based on discounted cash flow valuation models that use non-observable inputs such 
as discount rates.  Changes to discount rates and other inputs could have a material impact on the fair value of 
Level 3 investments. 
 
The following table shows the sensitivity of Level 3 measurements on real estate funds to reasonably possible 
favourable or unfavourable changes in the assumptions, e.g., rental income, mortgage rates, occupancy levels 
are used to determine the fair value of the financial asset or liability. If market rates were to change by +/- 5%, 
which management considers a reasonably possible change in assumptions for real estate investments, the 
impact is outlined below:  
 

  Change in after-tax income  
	   Favourable 

changes 
Unfavourable 

changes 

At December 31, 2014 $2,715 ($2,715) 

At December 31, 2013 $2,893  ($2,893) 
 
Valuation processes 
 
The Society’s finance department is responsible for reviewing the basis of the valuation of fair value 
measurements included in the consolidated financial statements, including Level 3 fair values. The valuation 
processes and results for recurring measurements are reviewed and monitored by the Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”) at least once every quarter, in line with the Society’s quarterly reporting dates. The valuation 
processes and results for non-recurring measurements are reviewed and approved by the Controller and the 
CFO in the quarter in which the measurement occurs. All Level 3 valuation results are discussed with the Audit 
Committee as part of its review of the Society’s consolidated financial statements   
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7.  Amounts due from reinsurers 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

   Amounts receivable from reinsurers 2,552 1,921 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 77,224 68,254 
    $79,776 $70,175 

 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Balance – Beginning of year 68,254 62,149 
Normal business changes 8,553 4,655 
   
Changes due to retention - - 
Changes in assumptions:   

Interest rate 2,272 1,454 
Other assumptions (1,855) (4) 

Balance – End of year $77,224 $68,254 

Current 22,121 17,448 
Non-current 57,655 52,727 

 $79,776 $70,175 
 

The Society has guidelines and a review process in place to ascertain the creditworthiness of the companies to 
which it cedes insurance.  The Society cedes a portion of its business to registered reinsurers.  No information 
has come to the Society's attention indicating weakness or failure of any of its current reinsurers; consequently, 
no provision has been made in the accounts for doubtful collection. 
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8. Trade and other receivables 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

   Accounts receivable – Risk 6,685 5,690 
Accounts receivable – ASO 29,285 23,377 
Accounts receivable – Other 4,023 2,647 
 $39,993 $31,714 
   
Current 38,843 30,604 
Non-current                 1,150 1,110 

 $39,993 $31,714 
 

Accounts receivable – ASO includes claims and fees which are part of the billings (note 2.16) 
 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
   Trade accounts receivable   

Current (outstanding 1-30 days) 31,525 27,935 
Outstanding 31-60 days 3,667 1,863 
Outstanding 60+ days 786 367 

 $35,978 $30,165 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (8) (20) 
Other accounts receivable 4,023 1,569 

 $39,993 $31,714 
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9. Prepaid expenses 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Maintenance agreements 1,161 1,265 
Commission 1,990 1,323 
Insurance 84 288 
Dues and subscriptions 453 451 
Other 202 350 
 $3,890 $3,677 
   
Current 3,890 3,677 
Non-current - - 

 $3,890 $3,677 
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10.   Property and equipment 
 Leasehold 

Improvements 
Furniture and 

Equipment Total 
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ $ $ 
Opening net book amount 2,460 3,036 $5,496 
Additions 37 1,046 1,083 
Disposals - - - 
Amortisation charge (365) (1,345) (1,710) 
Closing net book amount $2,132 $2,737 $4,869 
    
At December 31, 2013    
Cost or valuation 6,814 15,870 22,684 
Accumulated amortisation (4,682) (13,133) (17,815) 
Net book amount $2,132 $2,737 $4,869 
    
Year ended December 31, 2014    
Opening net book amount $2,132 $2,737 $4,869 
Additions 46 1,618 1,664 
Disposals - (88) (88) 
Amortisation charge (370) (1,353) (1,722) 
Closing net book amount $1,808 $2,915 $4,723 
    
Opening amortisation amount ($4,682) (13,133) ($17,815) 
Current year charge (370) (1,352) (1,722) 
Disposals - 2,218 2,218 
Closing amortisation amount ($5,052) ($12,267) ($17,319) 
    
Opening cost amount $6,814 $15,870 $22,684 
Additions 46 1,618 1,664 
Disposals - (2,306) (2,306) 
Closing cost amount $6,860 $15,182 $22,042 
    
At December 31, 2014    
Cost or valuation $6,860 $15,182 $22,042 
Accumulated amortisation (5,052) (12,267) (17,319) 
Net book amount $1,808 $2,915 $4,723 
    
There were no asset impairments during 2014 and 2013.   
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11. Intangible assets 
  Internally Developed   
 Computer 

Software 
Individual Plan 
Admin System 

Admin Claims 
Enrolment System 

Purchased Total 

Year ended  
December 31, 2013 

$ $ $ $ $ 

Opening net book amount 893 4,608 49,813 8,501 63,815 
Additions 1,147 32 12,973 - 14,153 
Disposals (158) - - - (158) 
Amortisation charge (582) (687) (1,839) (97) (3,205) 
Closing net book amount $1,300 $3,954 $60,947 $8,404 $74,605 
 
As at  
December 31, 2013 

     

Cost or valuation $25,265 6,873 65,544 8,792 106,474 
Accumulated amortisation (23,965) (2,920) (4,597) (388) (31,869) 
Net book value $1,300 $3,953 $60,947 $8,404 $74,605 
      
Year ended December 
31, 2014 

     

Opening net book amount $1,300 $3,953 $60,947 $8,404 $74,605 
Additions 903 - 2,866 - 3,769 
Disposals - (1) - - (1) 
Amortisation charge (1,363) (687) (5,502) (97) (7,649) 
Closing net book amount $840 $3,265 $58,311 $8,307 $70,724 
      
Opening amortisation 
amount 

(23,967) (2,920) (4,597) (388) (31,871) 

Current year charge (1,363) (687) (5,502) (97) (7,649) 
Disposals 14,962 - - - 14,962 
Closing amortization 
amount 

($10,368) ($3,607) ($10,099) ($485) ($24,559) 

      
Opening cost amount 25,267 6,873 65,544 8,792 106,476 
Additions 903 - 2,866 - 3,769 
Disposals (14,962) - - - (14,962) 
Closing cost amount $11,208 $6,873 $68,410 $8,792 $95,283 
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  Internally Developed   
 Computer 

Software 
Individual Plan 
Admin System 

Admin Claim 
Enrolment System 

Purchased Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
As at  
December 31, 2014 

     

Cost or valuation $11,208 $6,873 $68,410 $8,792 $95,283 
Accumulated amortisation (10,368) (3,607) (10,099) (485) (24,559) 
Net book value $840 $3,266 $58,311 $8,307 $70,724 

There were no asset impairments during 2014 and 2013. 
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12. Insurance liabilities  

The expenditures on members' claims include an estimate for services performed and claims incurred but 
which have not been reported to or processed by the Society. This estimate is based on the results of an 
actuarial valuation performed in accordance with standards established by the CIA using data supplied by the 
Society.  The actual amount of the Society's liability with respect to incurred but unreported and open claims 
cannot be determined until all claims have been submitted and processed. Although the Society is liable for the 
full amount of claims filed by its members, it mitigates its exposure to significant claims by entering into 
contracts with reinsurers.  It is not possible to determine the amount by which actual settlements and amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers will differ from amounts reserved. 

These contracts with reinsurers include provisions for claims experience adjustments which are recognised by 
the Society once the amounts and timing of these adjustments are known. 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Change in reserve   
Balance - Beginning of year 142,062 126,847 
   
Changes due to business growth 21,441 15,685 
Changes in assumptions   
Change in interest rate 3,761 2,338 
Change in other assumptions (9,617) (2,808) 
Balance - End of year $157,647  $142,062 
   
Current 61,841 60,471 
Non-current 95,806 81,591 
 $157,647 $142,062 

 
Role of the Appointed Actuary 

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors to carry out an annual valuation of policy 
liabilities. In performing the valuation, the Appointed Actuary makes assumptions as to future rates of interest, 
expenses, inflation, reinsurance recoveries, and other contingencies taking into account the circumstances of 
the Society and the policies in force.  The Appointed Actuary is responsible for ensuring that these assumptions 
and the methods for the valuation of policy liabilities are in accordance with accepted actuarial practice, 
applicable legislation, and associated regulations, and is required to provide an opinion on the appropriateness 
of the policy liabilities at the balance sheet date to meet all policyholder obligations.  
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13. Members’ dues received in advance 

Dues received in advance are premiums for annual policies that have been received but not been fully earned 
at the balance sheet date. They are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive 
Income in the period to which coverage is in force.   

At year-end the split between travel plans and health plans was as follows: 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

   Travel plans 4,959 4,007 
Health plans 5,303 5,699 
 Total $10,262 $9,706 

 
Current 10,262 9,706 
Non-current - - 
 Total $10,262 $9,706 

 
14. Trade and other payables 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Due to clients 94,988 86,359 
Client deposits 54,805 45,392 
Outstanding cheques 33,014 42,012 
Trade 16,023 16,541 
Payroll 2,920 2,408 
Reinsurance 1,407 1,211 
Other 195 239 
 $203,352 $194,162 
   
Current 203,352 194,162 
Non-current - - 
 $203,352 $194,162 

 

Due to clients represents refunds due to experience rated benefits. 

Client deposits are related to administrative services only contracts and on hand to cover shortfall on funds 
owed for prior month claims.  

Outstanding cheques are covered by cash and short-term investments together with a $2M credit facility. 
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15. Funds held on behalf of members  

As at December 31, 2014, $1,280 (2013: $6,432) was held on behalf of self-insured groups to fund future 
claims and expenses. These funds are not included in the consolidated financial statements of the Society as 
they do not meet the definition of an asset of the Society. 

Any interest earned on these funds is for the benefit of the self-insured group. 

16. Commitments 

The Society has commitments for operating leases relating to property, equipment and contracts for software 
development. Future minimum annual payments are as follows: 

  $ 
2015 3,039 
2016 2,854 
2017 2,801 
2018 and beyond 2,521 

 
The Society's bank has issued letters of credit for pension obligations in the amount of $5,434 (2013: $5,178). 

The Society leases land and building under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement. The lease expires in 
November 2018.  It is a 15-year lease which includes two five-year renewal options. The lease also covers the 
operating costs of 4250 Canada Way, Burnaby, British Columbia.  The lease expenditure charged to the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income during the year is $4,146 (2013: $4,067). 
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17. Pension plans and post-employment benefits 

The Society sponsors contributory defined benefit plans for eligible management employees and a contributory 
defined contribution plan for eligible hourly and management employees. 

In addition to its pension plans, the Society also provides certain post-employment medical and dental benefits 
to eligible employees and dependents upon meeting certain requirements.  The post-employment benefits are 
currently not funded. 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2014, consisting of cash contributed by the Society to its 
funded pension plan, cash payments directly to beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment benefit plans, and 
cash contributed to its defined contribution plan, were $3,899 (2013: $3,402).  The details are as follows: 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Cash payments to:   
Beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment benefit plans 665 499 
Retirement Compensation Agreement plan 259 168 
Defined contribution plan 2,975 2,676 
Employer contribution to pension plan - 59 
 $3,899 $3,402 

 

The Society measures its accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes 
as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes 
was at December 31, 2011, and the next required valuation will be as of December 31, 2014.  The valuation 
used for these consolidated financial statements was prepared as at December 31, 2014, using the December 
31, 2011 valuation data with ages and salaries adjusted to December 31, 2014. 

All other plans are valued on annual basis for accounting purposes. 
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Information regarding the pension plans and post-employment benefits is as follows: 

 Pension plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 
Total defined 
pension plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Change in benefit obligation      
Benefit obligation  
- Beginning of year 3,901 4,024 7,925 28,589 36,514 
Actuarial losses from change 
in demographic assumptions 219 254 473 3,517 3,990 
Actuarial losses from change 
in financial assumptions 328 318 646 1,571 2,217 
Actuarial losses from 
experience adjustments 58 102 160 365 525 
Interest cost 184 191 375 1,385 1,760 
Current service cost 29 46 75 817 892 
Benefits paid (270) (259) (529) (665) (1,194) 
Benefit obligation  
- End of year $4,449 $4,676 $9,125 $35,579 $44,704 
      
Change in plan assets      
Fair value of plan assets - 
Beginning of year 4,031  - 4,031  - 4,031 
Interest cost  190  - 190  - 190 
Return on plan assets 
(excluding amount included in 
net interest expense) 154  - 154  - 154 
Employer contributions - 259 259 665 924 
Benefits paid (270) (259) (529) (665) (1,194) 
      
Fair value of plan assets - End 
of year $4,105  $- $4,105  $- $4,105 
Net (deficit)  ($344)  ($4,676) ($5,020) ($35,579) ($40,599) 
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 Pension plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 
Total defined 
pension plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Current service cost 29 46 75 817 892 
Interest cost (7)                  191 184 1,385 1,569 
Expense before OCI  $ 22 $237  $259  $2,202 $2,461 
 
Charge to OCI      
Return on plan assets  
(excluding amount included in 
interest expense) (154) - (154) - (154) 
Actuarial losses from changes in 
demographic assumptions 219 254 473 3,517 3,990 
Actuarial losses from changes in 
financial assumptions 328 318 646 1,571 2,217 
Actuarial losses from experience 
adjustments 58 102 160 365 525 
Charge to OCI $451 $674 $1,125 $5,453 $6,578 
Net change $473 $911 $1,384 $7,655 $9,039 
      

Current service costs are management’s best estimate of contributions expected for 2014. 
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Information regarding the pension plans and post-employment benefits is as follows: 

 Pension plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 
Total defined 
pension plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Change in benefit obligation      
Benefit obligation  
- Beginning of year 4,227 3,956 8,183 26,937 35,120 
Actuarial (gains) from change in 
financial assumptions (296) (286) (582) (1,210) (1,792) 
Actuarial losses from experience 
adjustments 5 232 237 1,495 1,732 
Interest cost 168 159 327 1,094 1,421 
Current service cost 59 131 190 771 961 
Benefits paid (262) (168) (430) (498) (928) 
Benefit obligation - End of year $3,901 $4,024 $7,925 $28,589 $36,514 
      
Change in plan assets      
Fair value of plan assets - 
Beginning of year 3,615  - 3,615  - 3,615 
Interest cost 144  - 144  - 144 
Return on plan assets  
(excluding amount included in 
net interest expense) 475  - 475  - 475 
Employer contributions 59  168 227  498 725 
Benefits paid (262)  (168) (430)  (498) (928) 
Fair value of plan assets  
- End of year $4,031  $- $4,031  $- $4,031 
Net (deficit) / surplus   $130  ($4,024)  ($3,894)  ($28,589) ($32,483) 
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Pension 

plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 

Total 
defined 

pension 
plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Current service cost 59 131 190 771 961 
Interest cost 24  159 183 1,094 1,277 
Expense before OCI  $83  $290   $373  $1,865   $2,238  

 
 

Charge to OCI      
Return on plan assets  
(excluding amount included in 
interest expense) (475) - (475) - (475) 
Actuarial (gains) from changes 
in financial assumptions (296) (286) (582) (1,210) (1,792) 
Actuarial losses from experience 
adjustments 5 232 237 1,495 1,732 
(Recovery) / charge to OCI ($766) ($54) ($820) $285 ($535) 
Net change ($683) $236 ($447) $2,150 $1,703 
      

Current service costs are management’s best estimate of contributions expected for 2013. 
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Employee benefits risks 
 
A defined benefit plan can expose the entity to risks. The most significant such risks for the Society are: 
 
Investment risk – the present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a discount rate 
determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields.  If the return on plan assets is below this 
yield, it will create a plan deficit. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the Society considers it 
appropriate to invest a reasonable proportion of the plan assets in equity investments to leverage the 
return generated by the fund. 
 
Interest risk – a decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the plan’s liabilities. However, this will be 
partially offset by an increase in value of the assets of the plan held in bonds.    
 
Longevity risk – an increase in the life expectancy of the plan members will increase the plan’s liability.  
 
The Society is responsible for the governance of the plan, including setting the investment policy for the 
assets of the fund, and ensuring that the plan is administered in line with legal and regulatory 
requirements and the Plan Text.    
 
The required contributions for 2015 are $0 (2014: $15). 
 
The duration of the defined benefit obligation has been estimated as 10 years (2013: 9 years).  

The duration of the post-retirement obligation has been estimated as 20 years (2013: 20 years) 
 

Pension plan assets consist of: 

 
Percentage of plan 

assets 
Percentage of plan 

assets 
   

 
2014 

% 
2013 

% 
   

Balanced funds 100 100 
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Weighted average assumptions as at December 31 are as follows: 

 
Pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
     

 
2014 

% 
2014 

% 
2013 

% 
2013 

% 
     

Discount rate 4.10 4.10 4.90 4.90 
Expected long-term rate of return 

on plan assets 4.10 n/a 4.90 n/a 
Rate of compensation increase 1.10 n/a 1.40 n/a 
Rate of medical cost trend n/a 3.60 n/a 4.20 

 
The overall expected rate of return on the assets is determined based on market expectations applicable to the 
period over which the obligation  is settled. 

The method and assumptions used are the same as those used to determine the obligation, with the exception 
of the assumption amended to produce the sensitivity analysis.  In practice, it is unlikely that only one 
assumption will change at a time as the assumptions are related.  There were no changes to methods and 
assumptions used in the sensitivity analysis. 
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A one percentage point change in the assumed medical cost trend would have the following effect: 

December 31, 2014 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost $224 27.6% ($166) (20.4%) 
Benefit obligation $6,997 19.7% ($5,504) (15.5%) 
     
December 31, 2013 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost $215  27.6%  ($159) (20.4%) 
Benefit obligation $5,585  19.5% ($4,353) (15.2%) 
     

A one percentage point change in the assumed discount rate on post-employment benefits would have the following 
effect: 

December 31, 2014 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($188) (16.3%) $259 31.9% 
Benefit obligation ($5,804) (23.2%) $7,554 21.2% 
     
December 31, 2013 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($174) (22.3%) $237 30.4% 
Benefit obligation ($4,547) (15.9%) $5,878 20.6% 
 
 
A ten percentage point change in mortality incidence on post-employment benefits would have the following effect: 
 
December 31, 2014 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($20) (2.5%) $22 2.7% 
Benefit obligation ($964) (2.7%) $1,074 3.0% 
     
December 31, 2013 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($23) (3.0%) $25 3.2% 
Benefit obligation ($896) (3.1%) $1,000 3.5% 
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A one percentage point change in the assumed discount rate on pension plans would have the following effect: 
 
December 31, 2014 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($1) (10.2.% 1 12.3% 
Benefit obligation ($480) (9.1%) $404 10.8% 
     

December 31, 2013 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($1) (8.7%) $1 11.6% 
Benefit obligation ($683) (8.6%) $802 10.1% 
 

A ten percentage point change in mortality rate in pension plans would have the following effect: 
 
December 31, 2014 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($.5) (1.7%) $.5 1.8% 
Benefit obligation ($100) (2.0%) $91 2.1% 
     

December 31, 2013 Increase  Decrease  

Benefit cost ($1) (1.4%) $2 2.9% 
Benefit obligation ($176) (2.2%) $193 2.5% 
     
Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with published studies in 
Canada.  These assumptions translate into an average life expectancy. 

Retiring at the end of: 

 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
Male 19 19 
Female 22 22 
 
Retiring 20 years after the end of: 

 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
Male 19 19 
Female 22 22 
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18. Other comprehensive income (loss) 

 Actuarial adjustments to the pension plans and post-retirement benefits are charged to other comprehensive 
income (loss).   

The total charge to other comprehensive income (loss) since transition to  IFRS is ($9,543) (2013: ($2,965)). 

 
Details by plan sources are outlined below by year: 

 
Pension 

plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 

Total 
pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 $  $ $ $ $ 
2011  (373)  (475)  (848)  (878)  (1,726) 
2012  (77)  (434)  (511)   540  29 
2013  766  54 820  (285)  535 
2014            (451)              (674)  (1,125)           (5,453)         (6,578) 

 ($135) ($1,529) ($1,664) ($6,076) ($7,740) 
 
19. General and administrative costs   

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Salaries  46,799 42,088 
Benefits (notes 17 and 18) 14,756 11,457 
Consulting fees and professional services  10,024 4,055 
Amortisation of property and equipment 1,810 1,710 
Amortisation of intangible assets 7,650 3,205 
Strategic project costs 4,725 7,990 
Occupancy costs 4,146 4,067 
Information technology 3,005 2,938 
Miscellaneous 2,292 895 
Dues and subscriptions 808 783 
Telephone 687 599 
Stationery and supplies 1,264 1,004 
Postage, delivery and storage 1,820 1,826 
Advertising and promotion 3,205 3,058 
Net GST 1,627 1,637 
 $104,618 $87,312 
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20. Related party transactions 

Related parties of the Society include subsidiaries, retirement benefit plans, key management personnel, close 
family members of key management personnel and entities which are controlled, jointly controlled or 
significantly influenced or for which significant voting power is held by key management personnel or their close 
family members. 
 
The Society considers key management personnel to be the Board of Directors, Executive and Leadership 
group. 

 
Key management compensation 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 5,338 5,377 
Post-employment benefits 738 605 
Other long-term benefits 362 309 

 
The PIMCO Bond Fund is considered a related party and details of balances and related party transactions are 
disclosed in note 5. 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Total investment income / loss 4,130 4,201 
Investment expenses (563) (549) 

 3,567 3,652 
 
Claims adjudication follows the same process for related parties as non-related parties and is performed in 
accordance with the terms of the individual policies. 

 
21. Financial instrument risk management 

The Society’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate risk 
tolerance limits, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits through the maintenance of a strong control 
environment and use of information systems. Financial instrument risk management is carried out by an 
Investment Committee which reports to the Board of Directors. The Board sets written policies for risk tolerance 
and overall risk management, and management reports to the Board on compliance with the risk management 
policies of the Society. A Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (“SIPP”) and Investment Manager 
Mandates (“IMM”) are used to set overall risk tolerance. In addition, the Society maintains an internal audit 
function with responsibility for review of the overall control environment.  Insurance risk management is outlined 
in note 4. 
 
The Society is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance 
assets and insurance claims reserves. The most important components of these specific financial instrument 
risks are related to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk, as described below. The key financial risk is that in 
the long term the Society’s investment portfolio is not sufficient to fund its insurance obligations. 
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Credit risk 
 
The Society is exposed to credit risk principally through its cash and cash equivalents, directly held fixed 
income investments, trade and other receivables and amounts due from reinsurers. The Society has policies to 
limit and monitor its exposure to individual issuers and classes of issuers of investment securities which do not 
carry the guarantee of a national or Canadian provincial government. The Society invests short-term surplus 
cash in guaranteed deposits with British Columbia credit unions and federally incorporated Canadian banks.  
 
The Society monitors its exposure in respect of premiums and other receivables to ensure that credit is 
provided on normal commercial trade terms and to minimise the risk of any large concentration of credit risk. 
Trade and other receivables have a short term to maturity and are not considered to represent a significant 
credit risk. The Society’s credit exposure to any one policyholder is monitored by management. The Society 
also has policies which manage its exposure to individual reinsurers and it regularly reviews the 
creditworthiness of reinsurers with whom it transacts business. As at December 31, 2014, the Society’s 
reinsurers had a rating of A+ (2013: A-) or above based on AM Best ratings. The Society has no off-balance 
sheet exposures to credit risk. The Society’s maximum exposure to credit risk is summarised below: 
 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 40,772 52,995 
Fixed income investments 12,484 8,546 
Trade and other receivables 39,993 31,714 
Amounts due from reinsurers 79,776 70,175 

 $173,025 $163,430 

There is a risk of the credit profile of specific investments changing over time and not meeting minimum quality 
requirements or defaulting and requiring action to mitigate losses. The Society has developed policies and 
procedures to mitigate the risk associated with credit ratings. Through the SIPP and IMM, the Society 
addresses each of the principles and requirements related to credit rating and credit risk management. The 
Society has a significant inherent exposure to changes in credit risk due to its reliance on fixed income 
investments.  However, management believes the exposure to material credit risk is unlikely through 
maintenance of a low credit risk fixed investment profile, despite current economic and market uncertainties. 
The carrying value of the Society’s fixed income investments as at December 31 is as follows: 

 2014 2013 
 $ % $ % 
     

Canadian federal government 3,293 26.4 1,696 19.9 
Canadian provincial and 

municipal government 
2,794 22.4 2,515 29.4 

Other foreign governments - - 59 0.7 
Corporate bonds 6,397 51.2 4,276 50.0 

 $12,484 100.0% $8,546 100.0% 
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There were no fixed income investments held as at year-end which have past due interest or had a modification 
of terms during the year.  There were no trade and other receivables, amounts due from reinsurers, and cash 
and cash equivalents held as at year-end which have a modification of terms during the year. 

Concentration of credit risk 
 
The assets above are analysed in the table below using Standard & Poors (“S&P”) rating (or equivalent when not 
available from S&P). The concentration of credit risk is substantially unchanged compared to the prior year. 

 
 
December 31, 2014 

AAA 
$ 

AA 
$ 

A 
$ 

BBB 
$ 

Below 
BBB 

$ 

Not 
rated 

$ 

Total 
$ 

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - 40,772 40,772 
Fixed income investments 5,764 3,142 2,879 699 - - 12,484 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 39,993 39,993 
Amounts due from 
reinsurers - - 79,776 - - - 79,776 
Total $5,764 $3,142 $82,655 $699 $- $80,765 $173,025 
 

 
 
December 31, 2013 

AAA 
$ 

AA 
$ 

A 
$ 

BBB 
$ 

Below 
BBB 

$ 

Not 
rated 

$ 

Total 
$ 

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - 52,995 52,995 
Fixed income investments 1,989 2,722 3,162 673 - - 8,546 
Trade and other 
receivables 

- - - - - 31,714 31,714 

Amounts due from 
reinsurers 

- - 70,175 - - - 70,175 

Total $1,989 $2,722 $73,337 $673 $- $84,709 $163,430 
	  

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 

• Interest rate risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates;  

• Currency risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates;  
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• Other price risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are 
caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 
financial instruments traded in the market. 

The Society manages these risks by a variety of risk management techniques which include diversification 
of investments and may include the periodic use of forward foreign exchange derivative contracts to mitigate 
exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates.  

The Society maintains policies and procedures detailing the acceptable levels of market risk. The Society’s 
key financial risk management tool is its investment policy which is defined in a SIPP and IMM.  

The target level for all fixed income investments is 55% (2013: 55%) of the total portfolio.  No one issuer 
greater than 8% (2013: 8%) is allowed in the bond portfolio.  No more than 20% (2013: 20%) of bonds can 
be in emerging market securities.   

The target level for investments in Canadian equity markets is 20% (2013: 20%) of the total portfolio.  No 
single equity can be greater than 10% (2013: 10%) of a single corporation.  The investments must be 
invested in at least six sectors of the appropriate index. 

The target level for investments in global equity markets is 15% (2013: 15%) of the total portfolio.  The 
investments must be invested in at least seven sectors of the appropriate index. 

The target level for the real estate fund is 10% (2013: 10%) of the total portfolio.  The real estate fund is 
restricted to Canadian properties and diversified over office, industrial and retail buildings.  Leverage is 
restricted to 50% (2013: 50%) of the fair market value of the fund. 

Compliance with the policies is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the Board. The 
policies are reviewed annually for relevance and changes to the risk environment.  The life insurance 
component of the Society’s investments exposure to market risks is generally offset by the corresponding 
exposure of its policy obligations.  As the policy liabilities for these obligations are calculated based on 
market values, increases and decreases in these risk variables affect both investment income and the 
change in the carrying value of policy liabilities.  The activity of investments and holdings are presented to 
the Investment Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis to ensure that the policies governing the 
portfolio are being adhered to.  The Dynamic Capital Adequacy Test (“DCAT”), which involves scenario 
testing, is a tool that is periodically used by management to determine potential risks and impacts to the 
Society. 

Fair value estimation 
 
As at December 31, 2014, $129,307 (2013: $115,974) of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
comprise investments in Pool Funds that have been fair valued in accordance with the policies. The shares of 
the Pool Funds are not publicly traded; redemption can only be made by the Society on the redemption dates 
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and subject to the required notice periods specified in the offering documents of each of the Pool Funds. The 
rights of the Society to request redemption of its investments in Pool Funds may vary in frequency from weekly 
to annual redemptions. As a result, the carrying values of the Pool Funds may not be indicative of the values 
ultimately realised on redemption. In addition, the Society may be materially affected by the actions of other 
investors who have invested in the Pool Funds in which the Society has invested. 
 
All of the Pool Funds in the investment portfolio are managed by portfolio managers who are compensated by 
the respective Pool Funds for their services. Such compensation generally consists of an asset-based fee and 
a performance-based incentive fee. Such compensation is reflected in the valuation of the Society’s investment 
in each of the Pool Funds. 
 
The Pool Funds are not traded on an active market; their fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 
The value is primarily based on the latest available redemption price of the Pool Fund’s units as reported by the 
administrator of such Pool Fund. The Society may make adjustments to the value based on considerations 
such as liquidity of the Pool Fund or its underlying investments, the value date of the NAV provided, any 
restrictions on redemptions and the basis of accounting. 

 
The real estate is not traded on an active market. If redeemed, only 95% would be liquidated in such a case 
unless existing shareholders are willing to acquire the Society’s holdings at fair value. 

The Society invests in other funds and is susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future 
values of those Pool Funds. The investment manager makes investment decisions after an extensive 
assessment of the underlying fund, its strategy and the overall quality of the underlying fund’s manager. The 
Society’s policy requires the investment manager to complete a full reassessment of each of the Pool Funds on 
a quarterly basis. 
 
The Society’s investment restrictions prohibit it from investing more than 10% of its assets in any one Pool 
Fund. 

 
Fund 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Fixed income 3,407 3,126 
Canadian Equity 9,676 8,886 
Canadian Special  Equity 8,915 4,865 
US Equity 35,900 30,442 
International  27,642 26,299 
Real Estate 43,767 42,356 
Total of funds $129,307 $115,974 

 
 

At December 31, 2014, the exposure to investments by fund type is disclosed in the following table. These 
investments are included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the Consolidated Statement of 
Income and Comprehensive Income. 

 
The performance of investments held by the Society is monitored by the fund’s investment manager on a 
monthly basis and reviewed by the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. 
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The impact on net income and equity of a reasonable possible change in each of these variables is described 
below: 
 
(a) Interest rate 
 

The immediate impact on income from fixed income investments of a 1% increase or decrease in interest 
rates would not be significant due to the portfolio primarily consisting of fixed rate investments.  The 
immediate impact on the fair value of fixed income investments of a 1% change in interest rates would be 
approximately $709 (2013: $671). 
 

(b) Foreign currency 
 
The Society has no foreign currency exposure in its financial liabilities.  The Society is exposed to 
fluctuations in US foreign currency movements through its investment in a US dollar denominated pooled 
investment fund which is held in Canadian dollars. and through its international fund to other foreign 
currencies.   The Society’s principal foreign currency exposure is to changes in the value of the US dollar 
on the fair value of US dollar denominated investments.  The Society's investment managers manage 
foreign exchange risk as an integral component of overall price risk.  The sensitivity of equity securities 
and equity pooled funds to overall changes in price risk is disclosed below. 
 
The immediate impact on the fair value of foreign currency investment of a 1% increase or decrease on 
percentage change in exchange rate is approximately $635 (2013: $591). 
The Society may periodically use foreign currency derivative instruments to help manage its foreign 
currency risks.  The Society does not engage in speculative investment in derivatives. The exposure is 
managed by delegated investment managers, who are permitted, within strict limits, to enter into forward 
foreign currency contracts to offset changes in fair values of foreign denominated investments.  There 
were no forward foreign currency contracts held at December 31, 2014 and 2013.  The PIMCO Bond 
Fund held foreign currency contracts and sensitivity is disclosed in notes 25 through 34 of these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

(c) Other price risk 
 
The immediate impact on equities and investments in pooled funds of a 1% increase or decrease in the 
relevant indices would be approximately $2,655 (2013: $1,679) with all other variables held constant and 
assuming the Society's equity instruments moved according to historical correlation with relevant indices. 
This includes the real estate fund, fixed income pooled funds and equities. 
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The Society’s equity investments are diversified through investments in direct equities and pooled funds 
with a strategy which matches the Society’s risk tolerance levels. The carrying value of equities and 
pooled funds by geographic sector as at December 31 is as follows: 
 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Equity securities   
Canada 56,378 55,110 
   
Fixed income investments $12,484 $8,546 
   
Pooled funds   
Fixed Income 3,407 3,126 
Canada (Equity & Special) 18,591 13,750 
United States 35,900 30,442 
International 27,642 26,299 

 $85,540 $73,617 
   
Real estate fund $43,767 $42,356 

 $198,169 $179,629 
 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities.  Liquidity management involves maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities or an adequate 
amount of funding to meet financial obligations as they come due.  If the Society fails to anticipate the medium 
and long-term cash demands of its products and operations and/or the potential for variances arising from 
economic and regulatory changes, this could result in a risk of the Society having insufficient cash to meet its 
contractual obligations to policyholders, brokers, reinsurers, claimants or creditors.  The Society has 
implemented policies and procedures to mitigate risks associated with liquidity management.  These policies 
and procedures contribute to prudent and sound management of all aspects of liquidity. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Society’s cash flows and the maturity dates of liquid assets on 
the basis of expected cash flows.  The Society’s interests in the pooled funds, real estate fund and PIMCO 
Bond Fund are not publicly traded; redemption can only be made by the Society subject to the required notice 
periods specified in the offering documents of each. The rights of the Society to request redemption of its 
investments in the real estate fund and PIMCO Bond Fund may vary in frequency from weekly to annual 
redemptions The Society’s liabilities principally comprise short-term accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
and claims reserves.  As the exact timing of the maturity of the Society’s claims reserves is unknown and is 
indeterminable, the Society manages the maturity of claims by the use of an overall historical liability settlement 
pattern as a basis to define diversification and duration characteristics of future liabilities. 

The products offered by the Society present low risk as the main product lines are yearly renewable products, 
usually with rate guarantees of 12 months on renewal.  The Society offers standard product options which do 
not involve significant cash disbursements while the policies are in force.  Reinsurance and catastrophe 
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reinsurance policies are in place to manage risk to the Society and protect its solvency in the case of an 
adverse event.  The tables below indicate the maturity by year of the liquid assets. 
 

December 31, 2014 
Total 

$ 

Within 
 1 year or not 

maturing 
$ 

1-5 years 
$ 

6-10 years 
$ 

Over 
10 years 

$ 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 40,772 40,772 - - - 
Fixed term investments and fixed 

income pooled funds 15,891 6,772 4,580 1,995 2,544 
Real estate fund 43,767 43,767 - - - 
Equities and equity pool funds 138,511 138,511 - - - 
Trade and other receivables 39,993 39,993 - - - 
Amounts due from reinsurers 79,776 22,036 27,075 15,220 15,445 

 $358,710 $291,851 $31,655 $17,215 $17,989 
      

Insurance liabilities 157,647 61,841 45,057 25,113 25,636 
Members’ dues received in 
advance 10,262 10,262 

 
- - - 

Trade and other payables 203,352 203,352 - - - 

 $371,261 $275,455 $45,057 $25,113 $25,636 
 

The investment in the PIMCO Bond Fund is not reflected in these liquidity disclosures and would be factored in if a 
shortfall in cash were to occur by withdrawal of funds.	  	  
	  
The above table also does not include the employee benefit obligation of $40,599.  

December 31, 2013 
Total 

$ 

Within 
 1 year or not 

maturing 
$ 

1-5 years 
$ 

 
6-10 years 

$ 

Over 
10 years 

$ 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 52,995 52,995 - - - 
Fixed term investments and fixed 

income pooled funds 11,672 3,266 4,590 3,816 - 
Real estate fund 42,356 42,356 - - - 
Equities and equity pool funds 125,601 125,601 - - - 
Trade and other receivables 31,714 31,714 - - - 
Amounts due from reinsurers 70,175 17,448 22,985 13,096 16,646 

 $334,513 $273,380 $27,575 $16,912 $16,646 
      

Insurance liabilities 142,062 60,502 37,449 21,160 22,951 
Members’ dues received in 
advance 9,706 9,706 

 
- - - 

Trade and other payables 194,162 194,162 - - - 

 $345,930 $264,370 $37,449 $21,160 $22,951 
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The investment in the PIMCO Bond Fund is not reflected in these liquidity disclosures and would be factored in if a 
shortfall in cash were to occur by withdrawal of funds.	  	  
	  
The above table also does not include the employee benefit obligation of $32,483.  

22. Contingencies 

During the normal course of operations, legal proceedings may arise from time to time against the Society from 
insurance claimants.  The Society has policies and procedures in place concerning its claims adjudication 
procedures.  Management has reviewed outstanding legal matters pending as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 
and considers the risk of significant loss to be remote. As of the date of these financial statements, the outcome 
of these proceedings cannot be reasonably estimated; therefore, no amounts have been recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

23. Capital disclosure 

The Society's capital objective is to provide for maintenance of capital to provide an available and effective 
resource to support business activities. Additional objectives include maintaining safety and stability by ensuring 
capital is adequate to reduce risk exposure in a variety of situations, and that sufficient capital exists for future 
needs and strategic initiatives and to satisfy expectations of members. 

The Society implemented the the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (“OSFI”) guideline on 
Own Risk Solvency Assessment (“ORSA”) in 2014. As a result, it updated its Enterprise Risk Management 
Policy (“ERMP”), Risk Appetite Policy (“RAP”) and formed a Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) which 
reports quarterly to the Board of Directors via the Audit Committee on all risk-related matters and appointed a 
Chief Risk Officer. The ORSA report was completed and approved by the Board in December 2014 and 
provided detail assessment of identified risks and mitigation assessments on them. It also expanded the 
scenarios under DCAT to others deemed appropriate by the Board and management. 

The Society is externally regulated by FICOM.  The Society reports quarterly to the regulatory agency. The 
regulatory agency imposes minimum continuing capital and surplus requirements (“MCCSR”).  The guidelines 
provide minimum and supervisory target capital levels. FICOM requires a 150% minimum capital requirement.  
The Society maintains a Capital Risk Management Policy to ensure objectives are met and capital is managed 
within distinct stages relating to specific levels of the MCCSR.  During 2014 and as at December 31, 2014, the 
Society fully met the regulatory capital requirements.  The Society manages its capital by maintaining an 
investment portfolio that is 90% to 100% of the total equity of the Society.  The reference to total equity includes 
OCI.  The investments are governed by the SIPP. The SIPP requires high quality investments and the 
investment portfolio is presented to the Investment Committee of the Board every six months by the Society’s 
fund managers.  Any substandard investments are sold to maintain the quality of the fund. The holdings may 
include pooled funds, bonds and common equities.  There are concentration limits imposed as well to the 
portfolio, by industry and by investment instrument. 

The MCCSR ratio over the last 10 years has been within a target range of 200%.  
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24. Subsequent Event 

On January 1, 2015, the Society acquired the assets, business rights and shares of D.A.Townley and 
Associates Ltd. through a combination share transaction via MSA Business Services Ltd. and an asset 
purchase agreement by the Society. The total purchase price is contingent on business retention over the next 
two years and is in the range of $6.31 Million to $8.25 Million.  The funds were advanced to lawyers’ trust 
accounts prior to year-end and disclosed on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The final allocation of the price 
between assets and goodwill is not determinable at this time. 

25. Description of the Fund 

The notes below relate to the Investment in the PIMCO Canadian Tactical Bond Fund 
 
The Society, together with BC Life, holds 100% of the units of the PIMCO Canadian Tactical Bond Fund (the 
“Fund”). The Fund was established as an open-ended unit fund under the laws of the Province of Ontario and 
governed by the terms of a Fund Agreement. 

 
Date Established 

Commencement of 
Operations 

PIMCO Canadian  
Tactical Bond Fund December 31, 2004 October 29, 2010 

 
PIMCO Canada Corp. (“PIMCO Canada”) is the manager of the Fund (the “Investment Manager”), Pacific 
Investment Management Company LLC (“PIMCO”) is the sub-adviser and State Street Trust Company Canada 
is the trustee and custodian of the Fund (the “Trustee”). PBC Health Benefits Society (operating as Pacific Blue 
Cross) is a related party and ultimate parent of the Fund. The address of the Fund's registered office is 
Commerce Court West, 199 Bay Street, Suite 2050, Commerce Court Station, PO Box 363, Toronto, Ontario 
M5L 1G2. 

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies consistently followed by the Fund in the 
preparation of their financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS may require management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of increases and decreases in net 
assets from operations during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

(a) Determination of Net Assets Value and Net Asset 

The net asset value (“Net Asset Value”) of the Fund is determined as of the close of regular trading 
(normally 4:00 p.m., Eastern time) (the “TSX Close”) on each day that the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) 
is open. The Investment Manager may temporarily suspend the determination of Net Asset Value of the 
Fund and in connection therewith, the issue, repurchase and switches of units in or from the Fund under 
certain circumstances, as defined in the current offering memorandum of the Fund. 
 
For the purpose of calculating the net assets (“Net Assets”) for financial statement reporting, IFRS requires 
the fair value of investments traded in active markets to be measured using the closing bid price for long 
positions and closing ask price for short positions. The Fund uses the close or last trade price as fair value 
of investments traded on an exchange to determine the daily Net Asset Value for purchases and 
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redemptions by unitholders. The difference between the valuation of investments positions as prescribed by 
IFRS and the methodology indicated in the Fund’s Offering Memorandum is not materially different. 

 
(b) Securities Transactions, Investment Income and Transaction Costs 

Securities transactions are recorded as of the trade date for financial reporting purposes. Securities 
purchased or sold on a when-issued or delayed-delivery basis may be settled 15 days or more after the 
trade date. Realised and unrealised gains and losses are recorded on an average cost basis. Interest 
income, adjusted for the accretion of discounts and amortisation of premiums, is recorded on the accrual 
basis from settlement date. Estimated tax liabilities on certain foreign securities are recorded on an accrual 
basis and are reflected as components of interest income or a net change in unrealised appreciation 
(depreciation) on investments on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income, as 
appropriate. Tax liabilities realised as a result of such security sales are reflected as a component of net 
realised gain/loss on investments on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. 
Paydown gains and losses on mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities are recorded as 
components of realised gain (loss) on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.  
 
Transaction costs, such as brokerage commissions incurred in the purchase and sale of securities by the 
Fund, are recognised as expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of 
an investment, which include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by 
regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. 
 

(c) Cash and Foreign Currency  

The functional and reporting currency for the Fund is the Canadian dollar. The fair values of foreign 
securities, currency holdings and other assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars based on 
the current exchange rates each business day. Fluctuations in the value of currency holdings and other 
assets and liabilities resulting from changes in exchange rates are recorded as unrealised foreign currency 
gains or losses. Realised gains or losses and unrealised appreciation or depreciation on investment 
securities and income and expenses are translated on the respective dates of such transactions. The effects 
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on investments in securities are not segregated on the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income from the effects of changes in fair values of 
those securities, but are included with the net realised and unrealised appreciation and depreciation on 
investment securities. 
 

(d) Unrealised Appreciation and Depreciation of Investments   

The unrealised appreciation and depreciation of investments represents the aggregate of the difference 
between their average cost and fair value at the period end date.  
 

(e) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments   

The Fund earns investment returns in Canadian dollars (CAD), United States dollars (USD) and to a lesser 
extent in other foreign currencies based on the investments held. Expenses incurred by the Fund are in 
CAD. Because the Fund does not earn returns solely in CAD, the primary indicators of functional currency 
are viewed to be mixed and secondary indicators have been considered. The Fund’s subscriptions and 
redemptions of the redeemable units are predominantly denominated in CAD and the performance is 
measured and reported to the holders of redeemable units in CAD. The Manager considers CAD as the 
currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and 
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conditions. The financial statements for this Fund are therefore presented in CAD, which is the functional 
and presentation currency. 
 
In classifying and measuring financial instruments held by the Fund, the Investment Manager is required to 
make significant judgments about whether or not the business of the Fund is to invest on a total return basis 
for the purpose of applying the fair value option for financial assets under International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39). Significant 
judgments include the determination that the fair value option can be applied to all investments. 
 

26.  Investment Valuation and Fair Value Measurements 
The Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of the Fund is determined as of the “TSX Close” on each day that the “TSX” is 
open (each “Business Day”). Information that becomes known to the Fund or its agents after the NAV has been 
calculated on a particular day will not generally be used to retroactively adjust the price of a security or the NAV 
determined earlier that day. 
 
For the purpose of calculating the NAV, the portfolio securities and other financial derivative instruments are 
valued on each Business Day using valuation methods as adopted by the Investment Manager. The Investment 
Manager monitors the continual appropriateness of methods applied and determines if adjustments should be 
made in light of market factor changes and events affecting issuers. 
 
Where market quotes are readily available, fair value is generally determined on the basis of official closing 
prices or the last reported sales prices, or if no sales are reported, based on quotes obtained from a quotation 
reporting system, established market makers, or pricing services. Where market quotes are not readily 
available, portfolio securities and other financial derivative instruments are valued at fair value, as determined in 
good faith by the Investment Manager, Valuation Committee of PIMCO or persons acting at their direction. 
Market quotes are considered not readily available in circumstances where there is an absence of current or 
reliable market-based data (e.g., trade information, bid/ask information, or broker quotes), including where 
events occur after the close of the relevant market, but prior to the TSX Close, that materially affect the values 
of the Fund’s securities or financial derivative instruments. In addition, market quotes are considered not readily 
available when, due to extraordinary circumstances, the exchanges or markets on which securities trade do not 
open for trading for the entire day and no other market prices are available. The Investment Manager or persons 
acting at their direction have the responsibility for monitoring significant events that may materially affect the 
values of the Fund’s securities or financial derivative instruments and for determining whether the value of the 
applicable securities or financial derivative instruments should be re-evaluated in light of such significant events. 
 
The Investment Manager has adopted methods for valuing securities and other financial derivative instruments 
that may require fair valuation under particular circumstances. The Investment Manager monitors the continual 
appropriateness of fair valuation methods applied and determines if adjustments should be made in light of 
market changes, events affecting the issuer, or other factors. If the Investment Manager determines that a fair 
valuation method may no longer be appropriate, another valuation method may be selected, or the Valuation 
Committee or persons acting at their direction will take any appropriate action in accordance with procedures set 
forth. The Investment Manager reviews the appropriateness of the valuation methods from time to time and 
these methods may be amended or supplemented from time to time by the Valuation Committee. 
 
In circumstances in which daily market quotes are not readily available, investments may be valued pursuant to 
guidelines established by the Investment Manager. In the event that the security or asset cannot be valued 
pursuant to the established guidelines, the value of the security or other financial derivative instrument will be 
determined in good faith by the Valuation Committee or persons acting at their direction, generally based upon 
recommendations provided by PIMCO. These methods may require subjective determinations about the value 
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of a security. While the policy is intended to result in a calculation of the Fund’s NAV that fairly reflects security 
values as at the time of pricing, the Fund cannot guarantee that values determined by the Investment Manager 
or persons acting at their direction would accurately reflect the price that the Fund could obtain for a security if it 
were to dispose of that security as at the time of pricing (for instance, in a forced or distressed sale). The prices 
used by the Fund may differ from the value that would be realized if the securities were sold.   
 
Fair value is the price that the Fund would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. IFRS establishes a fair value hierarchy that 
prioritises inputs to valuation methods and requires disclosure of the fair value hierarchy, separately for each 
major category of assets and liabilities, that segregates fair value measurements into levels (Level 1, 2, and 
3).The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated 
with investing in those securities. Levels 1, 2, and 3 of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows: 
 
• Level 1—Inputs using quoted prices in active markets or exchanges for identical assets and liabilities. 
 
• Level 2—Significant other observable inputs, which may include, but are not limited to, quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities in markets that are active, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets 
that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities (such as 
interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates) or 
other market corroborated inputs. 
 
• Level 3—Significant unobservable inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances, to the 
extent observable inputs are not available, which may include assumptions made by the Investment Manager or 
persons acting at their direction that are used in determining the fair value of investments. 
 
Level 1 and Level 2 trading assets and trading liabilities, at fair value  
 
The valuation techniques and significant inputs used in determining the fair values of financial instruments 
classified as Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Fixed income securities including corporate, convertible and municipal bonds and notes, U.S. or Canadian 
government agencies, U.S. or Canadian treasury obligations, sovereign issues, bank loans, convertible 
preferred securities and non-U.S. bonds are normally valued by pricing service providers that use broker dealer 
quotations, reported trades or valuation estimates from their internal pricing models. The service providers’ 
internal models use inputs that are observable such as issuer details, interest rates, yield curves, prepayment 
speeds, credit risks/spreads, default rates and quoted prices for similar assets. Securities that use similar 
valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Fixed income securities purchased on a delayed-delivery basis are marked to market daily until settlement at 
the forward settlement date are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Mortgage-related and asset-backed securities are usually issued as separate tranches, or classes, of securities 
within each deal. These securities are also normally valued by pricing service providers that use broker dealer 
quotations or valuation estimates from their internal pricing models. The pricing models for these securities 
usually consider tranche-level attributes, current market data, estimated cash flows and market-based yield 
spreads for each tranche, and incorporate deal collateral performance, as available. Mortgage-related and 
asset-backed securities that use similar valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as 
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
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Common stocks, exchange-traded funds and financial derivative instruments, such as futures contracts or 
options contracts that are traded on a national securities exchange, are stated at the closing bid or ask prices 
price on the day of valuation. To the extent these securities are actively traded and valuation adjustments are 
not applied, they are categorised as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Valuation adjustments may be applied to 
certain securities that are solely traded on a foreign exchange to account for the market movement between the 
close of the foreign market and the close of the TSX. These securities are valued using pricing service providers 
that consider the correlation of the trading patterns of the foreign security to the intraday trading in the local 
markets for investments. Securities using these valuation adjustments are categorised as Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy. Preferred securities and other equities traded on inactive markets or valued by reference to 
similar instruments are also categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  
 
Short-term investments having a maturity of 60 days or less are generally valued at their latest bid quotation 
received from recognised investment dealers. If no bid price is available, they are valued at their amortised cost 
which approximates fair value. These investments are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Over-the-counter financial derivative instruments, such as foreign currency contracts, options contracts, or swap 
agreements, derive their value from underlying asset prices, indices, reference rates, and other inputs or a 
combination of these factors. These contracts are normally valued on the basis of broker dealer quotations or by 
pricing service providers. Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the value of financial 
derivatives can be estimated by a pricing service provider using a series of techniques, including simulation 
pricing models. The pricing models use inputs that are observed from actively quoted markets such as issuer 
details, indices, spreads, interest rates, curves, dividends and exchange rates. Financial derivatives that use 
similar valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Centrally cleared swaps listed or traded on a multilateral or trade facility platform, such as a registered 
exchange are valued by the respective exchange. For centrally cleared credit default swaps, the clearing facility 
requires its members to provide actionable levels across complete term structures. These levels along with 
external third party prices are used to produce daily settlement prices. Centrally cleared interest rate swaps are 
valued using a pricing model that references the underlying rates including the overnight index swap rate and 
London Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) forward rate to predict the daily settlement rate.. These securities are 
categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 

 
27. Securities and Other Investments 
 

(a)  Inflation-Indexed Bonds 

The Fund may invest in inflation-indexed bonds. Inflation-indexed bonds are fixed-income securities whose 
principal value is periodically adjusted to the rate of inflation. The interest rate on these bonds is generally 
fixed at issuance at a rate lower than typical bonds. Over the life of an inflation-indexed bond, however, 
interest will be paid based on a principal value which is adjusted for inflation. Any increase or decrease in 
the principal amount of an inflation-indexed bond will be included as interest income on the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income, even though investors do not receive their principal until 
maturity. 
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(b)  Mortgage-Related and Other Asset-Backed Securities 

The Fund may invest in mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities. These securities include 
mortgage pass-through securities, collateralised mortgage obligations, commercial mortgage-backed 
securities, asset-backed securities, collateralised debt obligations and other securities that directly or 
indirectly represent a participation in, or are secured by and payable from, mortgage loans on real property. 
Mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities are interests in pools of loans or other receivables. 
Mortgage-related securities are created from pools of residential or commercial mortgage loans, including 
mortgage loans made by savings and loan institutions, mortgage bankers, commercial banks and others. 
Asset-backed securities are created from many types of assets, including auto loans, credit card 
receivables, home equity loans, and student loans. These securities provide a monthly payment which 
consists of both interest and principal payments. Interest payments may be determined by fixed or 
adjustable rates. The rate of pre-payments on underlying mortgages will affect the price and volatility of a 
mortgage-related security, and may have the effect of shortening or extending the effective duration of the 
security relative to what was anticipated at the time of purchase. The timely payment of principal and 
interest of certain mortgage-related securities is guaranteed with the full faith and credit of the U.S. 
Government. Pools created and guaranteed by non-governmental issuers, including government-sponsored 
corporations, may be supported by various forms of insurance or guarantees, but there can be no 
assurance that the private insurers or guarantors can meet their obligations under the insurance policies or 
guarantee arrangements. 
 
Collateralised Mortgage Obligations (“CMOs”) are debt obligations of a legal entity that are collateralised by 
mortgages and divided into classes. CMOs are structured into multiple classes, often referred to as 
“tranches,” with each class bearing a different stated maturity and entitled to a different schedule for 
payments of principal and interest, including pre-payments. Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities 
(“CMBS”) include securities that reflect an interest in, and are secured by, mortgage loans on commercial 
real property. Many of the risks of investing in CMBS reflect the risks of investing in the real estate securing 
the underlying mortgage loans. These risks reflect the effects of local and other economic conditions on real 
estate markets, the ability of tenants to make loan payments, and the ability of a property to attract and 
retain tenants. CMOs and CMBS may be less liquid and may exhibit greater price volatility than other types 
of mortgage-related or asset-backed securities. 
 

(c) Government Agencies or Government-Sponsored Enterprises 

The Fund may invest in Canadian Government securities. Canadian Government securities are obligations 
of, or guaranteed by, the Canadian Government, its agencies or government-sponsored enterprises. 
Canadian Government securities are subject to market and interest rate risk and may be subject to varying 
degrees of credit risk. Canadian Government securities include zero coupon securities, which tend to be 
subject to greater market risk than interest-paying securities of similar maturities. 
 
The Fund may invest in securities of U.S. Government agencies or government-sponsored enterprises. U.S. 
Government securities are obligations of and, in certain cases, guaranteed by, the U.S. Government, its 
agencies or instrumentalities. Some U.S. Government securities, such as Treasury bills, notes and bonds, 
and securities guaranteed by the Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA” or “Ginnie Mae”), 
are supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government; others, such as those of the Federal Home 
Loan Banks, are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Department of the Treasury 
(the “U.S. Treasury”); others, such as those of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA” or 
“Fannie Mae”), are supported by the discretionary authority of the U.S. Government to purchase the 
agency’s obligations. U.S. Government securities may include zero coupon securities, which do not 
distribute interest on a current basis and tend to be subject to greater risk than interest-paying securities of 
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similar maturities such as U.S. Treasury Strips which are Treasury fixed-income securities sold at a discount 
to face value and offer no interest payments; rather, investors receive par at maturity. 
 
Government-related guarantors (i.e., not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government) include 
FNMA and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC” or “Freddie Mac”). FNMA is a 
government-sponsored corporation. FNMA purchases conventional (i.e., not insured or guaranteed by any 
government agency) residential mortgages from a list of approved seller/servicers which include state and 
federally chartered savings and loan associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks and credit 
unions and mortgage bankers. Pass-through securities issued by FNMA are guaranteed as to timely 
payment of principal and interest by FNMA, but are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. 
Government. FHLMC issues Participation Certificates (“PCs”), which are pass-through securities, each 
representing an undivided interest in a pool of residential mortgages. FHLMC guarantees the timely 
payment of interest and ultimate collection of principal, but PCs are not backed by the full faith and credit of 
the U.S. Government. 

 
28. Borrowings and Other Financing Transactions 

The following disclosures contain information on the Fund’s ability to lend or borrow cash or securities to the 
extent permitted, which may be viewed as borrowing or financing transactions by the Fund. The location and fair 
value amounts of these instruments are described below. For a detailed description of credit and counterparty 
risks that can be associated with borrowings and other financing transactions, please see note 30, Financial 
Instruments Risk. 

 
(a) Sale-Buybacks  

The Fund may enter into financing transactions referred to as ‘sale-buybacks’. A sale-buyback transaction 
consists of a sale of a security by the Fund to a financial institution, the counterparty, with a simultaneous 
agreement to repurchase the same or substantially the same security at an agreed-upon price and date. 
The Fund is not entitled to receive principal and interest payments, if any, made on the security sold to the 
counterparty during the term of the agreement. The agreed-upon proceeds for securities to be repurchased 
by the Fund are reflected as a liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The Fund will recognize net 
income represented by the price differential between the price received for the transferred security and the 
agreed-upon repurchase price. This is commonly referred to as the ‘price drop’. A price drop consists of (i) 
the foregone interest and inflationary income adjustments, if any, the Fund would have otherwise received 
had the security not been sold and (ii) the negotiated financing terms between the Fund and counterparty. 
Foregone interest and inflationary income adjustments, if any, are recorded as components of interest 
income on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. Interest payments based 
upon negotiated financing terms made by the Fund to counterparties are recorded as a component of 
interest expense on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. In periods of 
increased demand for the security, the Fund may receive a fee for use of the security by the counterparty, 
which may result in interest income to the Fund. The Fund will segregate assets determined to be liquid by 
PIMCO or will otherwise cover its obligations under sale-buyback transactions. 

 
29. Financial Derivative Instruments 

The following disclosures contain information on how and why the Fund uses financial derivative instruments, 
the credit-risk-related contingent features in certain financial derivative instruments, and how financial derivative 
instruments affect the Fund’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  The financial derivative 
instruments outstanding as of period end and the amounts of realised and changes in unrealised appreciation 
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and depreciation on financial derivative instruments during the period as disclosed on the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income of the Fund serve as indicators of the volume of financial 
derivative activity for the Fund. 
 
(a) Forward Foreign Currency Contracts 

The Fund may enter into forward foreign currency contracts in connection with settling planned purchases or 
sales of securities, to hedge the currency exposure associated with some or all of the Fund’s securities or 
as a part of an investment strategy. A forward foreign currency contract is an agreement between two 
parties to buy and sell a currency at a set price on a future date. The fair value of a forward foreign currency 
contract fluctuates with changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Forward foreign currency contracts are 
marked to market daily and the change in value is recorded by the Fund as an unrealised gain or loss. 
Realised gains or losses equal to the difference between the value of the contract at the time it was opened 
and the value at the time it was closed are recorded upon delivery or receipt of the currency. These 
contracts may involve market risk in excess of the unrealised gain or loss reflected on the Consolidated 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. In addition, the Fund could be exposed to risk if the 
counterparties are unable to meet the terms of the contracts or if the value of the currency changes 
unfavorably to the Canadian dollar. In connection with these contracts, securities may be identified as 
collateral in accordance with the terms of the respective contracts. 

 
(b) Futures Contracts 

The Fund may enter into futures contracts. The Fund may use futures contracts to manage their exposure to 
the securities markets or to movements in interest rates and currency values. The primary risks associated 
with the use of futures contracts are the imperfect correlation between the change in market value of the 
securities held by the Fund and the prices of futures contracts and the possibility of an illiquid market. 
Futures contracts are valued based upon their quoted daily settlement prices. Upon entering into a futures 
contract, the Fund is required to deposit with their futures broker, an amount of cash, U.S. or Canadian 
Government and Agency Obligations or select sovereign debt in accordance with the initial margin 
requirements of the broker or exchange. Futures contracts are marked to market daily and an appropriate 
payable or receivable for the change in value (“variation margin”) is recorded by the Fund. Gains or losses 
are recognised but not considered realised until the contracts expire or are closed. Futures contracts 
involve, to varying degrees, risk of loss in excess of the variation margin disclosed on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. 
 

(c) Options Contracts 

The Fund may write call and put options on securities and financial derivative instruments they own or in 
which they may invest. Writing put options tends to increase the Fund’s exposure to the underlying 
instrument. Writing call options tends to decrease the Fund’s exposure to the underlying instrument. When 
the Fund writes a call or put, an amount equal to the premium received is recorded as a liability and 
subsequently marked to market to reflect the current value of the option written. These liabilities are 
reflected as written options outstanding on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Premiums received from writing 
options which expire are treated as realised gains. Premiums received from writing options which are 
exercised or closed are added to the proceeds or offset against amounts paid on the underlying futures, 
swap, security or currency transaction to determine the realised gain or loss. Certain options may be written 
with premiums to be determined on a future date. The Fund, as a writer of an option, has no control over 
whether the underlying instrument may be sold (call) or purchased (put) and as a result bears the market 
risk of an unfavorable change in the price of the instrument underlying the written option. There is the risk 
the Fund may not be able to enter into a closing transaction because of an illiquid market. 
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The Fund may also purchase put and call options. Purchasing call options tends to increase the Fund’s 
exposure to the underlying instrument. Purchasing put options tends to decrease the Fund’s exposure to the 
underlying instrument. The Fund pays a premium which is included on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as 
an investment and subsequently marked to market to reflect the current value of the option. Premiums paid 
for purchasing options which expire are treated as realised losses. Certain options may be purchased with 
premiums to be determined on a future date. The premiums for these options are based upon implied 
volatility parameters at specified terms. The risk associated with purchasing put and call options is limited to 
the premium paid. Premiums paid for purchasing options which are exercised or closed are added to the 
amounts paid or offset against the proceeds on the underlying investment transaction to determine the 
realised gain or loss when the underlying transaction is sold. 
 
Interest Rate Swaptions 
 
The Fund may enter into interest rate swaption agreements. A swaption is an option to enter into a pre-
defined swap agreement by some specified date in the future. The writer of the swaption becomes the 
counterparty to the swap if the buyer exercises. The interest rate swaption agreement will specify whether 
the buyer of the swaption will be a fixed-rate receiver or a fixed rate payer. 
 
Foreign Currency Options 
 
The Fund may write or purchase foreign currency options. Purchasing foreign currency options gives the 
Fund the right, but not the obligation to buy or sell the currency and will specify the amount of currency and 
a rate of exchange that may be exercise by a specified date.   A foreign currency option will specify the 
amount of currency and a rate of exchange that may be exercised by a specified date. 
 

(d) Swap Agreements 

The Fund may invest in swap agreements. Swap agreements are bilaterally negotiated agreements 
between the Fund and a counterparty to exchange or swap investment cash flows, assets, foreign 
currencies or market-linked returns at specified, future intervals. Swap agreements are privately negotiated 
in the over the counter market (“OTC swaps”) or may be executed in a multilateral or other trade facility 
platform, such as a registered exchange (“centrally cleared swaps”). The Fund may enter into asset, credit 
default, cross-currency, interest rate, total return, variance and other forms of swap agreements to manage 
their exposure to credit, currency, interest rate, commodity, equity and inflation risk. In connection with these 
agreements, securities or cash may be identified as collateral or margin in accordance with the terms of the 
respective swap agreements to provide assets of value and recourse in the event 
of default or bankruptcy/insolvency. 
 
Swaps are fair valued daily based upon values from third-party vendors, which may include a registered 
exchange, or quotations from market makers to the extent available. In the event that market quotes are not 
readily available and the swap cannot be valued pursuant to one of the valuation methods, the value of the 
swap will be determined in good faith by the Valuation Committee of PIMCO, generally based upon 
recommendations provided by PIMCO. Changes in fair value, if any, are reflected as a component of net 
changes in unrealized appreciation/(depreciation) on the Consolidated Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income. Daily changes in valuation of centrally cleared swaps, if any, are recorded as a 
receivable or payable for the change in value as appropriate (“variation margin”) on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. OTC swap payments received or made at the beginning of the measurement period are 
reflected as such on the Statements of Financial Position and represent premiums paid or received upon 
entering into the swap agreement to compensate for differences between the stated terms of the swap 
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agreement and prevailing market conditions (credit spreads, currency exchange rates, interest rates, and 
other relevant factors).  These upfront premiums are recorded as realized gains or losses on the 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income upon termination or maturity of the swap. A 
liquidation payment received or made at the termination of the swap is recorded as realized gain or loss on 
the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. Net periodic payments received or paid 
by the Fund are included as part of derivative income (loss) on the Consolidated Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
Entering into these agreements involves, to varying degrees, elements of interest, credit, market and 
documentation risk in excess of the amounts recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Such risks 
involve the possibility that there will be no liquid market for these agreements, that the counterparty to the 
agreements may default on its obligation to perform or disagree as to the meaning of contractual terms in 
the agreements and that there may be unfavorable changes in interest rates. 
 
The Fund’s maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk is the discounted net value of the cash flows 
to be received from the counterparty over the contract’s remaining life, to the extent that amount is positive. 
The risk is mitigated by having a master netting arrangement between the Fund and the counterparty and by 
the posting of collateral to the Fund to cover the Fund’s exposure to the counterparty. 
 

(e) Credit Default Swap Agreements 

Credit default swap agreements involve one party making a stream of payments (referred to as the buyer of 
protection) to another party (the seller of protection) in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in 
the event of a default or other credit event for the referenced entity, obligation or index. As a seller of 
protection on credit default swap agreements, the Fund will generally receive from the buyer of protection a 
fixed rate of income throughout the term of the swap provided that there is no credit event. As the seller, the 
Fund would effectively add leverage to their portfolios because, in addition to their total net assets, the Fund 
would be subject to investment exposure on the notional amount of the swap.  
 
If the Fund is a seller of protection and a credit event occurs, as defined under the terms of that particular 
swap agreement, the Fund will either (i) pay to the buyer of protection an amount equal to the notional 
amount of the swap and take delivery of the referenced obligation, other deliverable obligations or 
underlying securities comprising the referenced index or (ii) pay a net settlement amount in the form of cash 
or securities equal to the notional amount of the swap less the recovery value of the referenced obligation or 
underlying securities comprising the referenced index. If the Fund is a buyer of protection and a credit event 
occurs, as defined under the terms of that particular swap agreement, the Fund will either (i) receive from 
the seller of protection an amount equal to the notional amount of the swap and deliver the referenced 
obligation, other deliverable obligations or underlying securities comprising the referenced index or (ii) 
receive a net settlement amount in the form of cash or securities equal to the notional amount of the swap 
less the recovery value of the referenced obligation or underlying securities comprising the referenced 
index. Recovery values are estimated by market makers considering either industry standard recovery rates 
or entity specific factors and considerations until a credit event occurs. If a credit event has occurred, the 
recovery value is determined by a facilitated auction whereby a minimum number of allowable broker bids, 
together with a specified valuation method, are used to calculate the settlement value.  
 
Credit default swap agreements on sovereign issues involve one party making a stream of payments to 
another party in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a default or other credit 
event. If a credit event occurs and cash settlement is not elected, a variety of other deliverable obligations 
may be delivered in lieu of the specific referenced obligation. The ability to deliver other obligations may 
result in a cheapest-to-deliver option (the buyer of protection’s right to choose the deliverable obligation with 
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the lowest value following a credit event). The Fund may use credit default swaps on corporate issues or 
sovereign issues to provide a measure of protection against defaults of the issuers (i.e., to reduce risk 
where the Fund owns or has exposure to the referenced obligation) or to take an active long or short 
position with respect to the likelihood of a particular issuer’s default.  
 
Credit default swap agreements on credit indices involve one party making a stream of payments to another 
party in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a write-down, principal shortfall, 
interest shortfall or default of all or part of the referenced entities comprising the credit index. A credit index 
is a basket of credit instruments or exposures designed to be representative of some part of the credit 
market as a whole. These indices are made up of reference credits that are judged by a poll of dealers to be 
the most liquid entities in the credit default swap market based on the sector of the index. Components of 
the indices may include, but are not limited to, investment grade securities, high yield securities, asset-
backed securities, emerging markets, and/or various credit ratings within each sector. Credit indices are 
traded using credit default swaps with standardised terms including a fixed spread and standard maturity 
dates. An index credit default swap references all the names in the index, and if there is a default, the credit 
event is settled based on that name’s weight in the index. The composition of the indices changes 
periodically, usually every six months, and for most indices, each name has an equal weight in the index. 
The Fund may use credit default swaps on credit indices to hedge a portfolio of credit default swaps or 
bonds, which is less expensive than it would be to buy many credit default swaps to achieve a similar effect. 
Credit default swaps on indices are instruments for protecting investors owning bonds against default, and 
traders use them to speculate on changes in credit quality. 
 
The maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) that the Fund as a seller of protection 
could be required to make under a credit default swap agreement would be an amount equal to the notional 
amount of the agreement. These potential amounts would be partially offset by any recovery values of the 
respective referenced obligations, upfront payments received upon entering into the agreement, or net 
amounts received from the settlement of buy protection credit default swap agreements entered into by the 
Fund for the same referenced entity or entities. 
 

 
(f) Interest Rate Swap Agreements 

The Fund is subject to interest rate risk exposure in the normal course of pursuing its investment objectives. 
Because the Fund holds fixed rate bonds, the value of these bonds may decrease if interest rates rise. To 
help hedge against this risk and to maintain its ability to generate income at prevailing market rates, the 
Fund may enter into interest rate swap agreements. Interest rate swap agreements involve the exchange by 
the Fund with another party for its respective commitment to pay or receive interest on the notional amount 
of principal. Certain forms of interest rate swap agreements may include: (i) interest rate caps, under which, 
in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the extent that interest rates 
exceed a specified rate, or “cap”, (ii) interest rate floors, under which, in return for a premium, one party 
agrees to make payments to the other to the extent that interest rates fall below a specified rate, or “floor”, 
(iii) interest rate collars, under which a party sells a cap and purchases a floor or vice versa in an attempt to 
protect itself against interest rate movements exceeding given minimum or maximum levels, (iv) callable 
interest rate swaps, under which the counterparty may terminate the swap transaction in whole at zero cost 
by a predetermined date and time prior to the maturity date, (v) spreadlocks, which allow the interest rate 
swap users to lock in the forward differential (or spread) between the interest rate swap rate and a specified 
benchmark, or (vi) basis swap, under which two parties can exchange variable interest rates based on 
different money markets.  
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30. Financial Instruments Risk 

The main risks arising from the Fund’s financial instruments are other price, interest rate, foreign currency, 
liquidity and credit risks. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that fixed income securities will decline in value because of changes in interest rates. 
As nominal interest rates rise, the value of certain fixed income securities held by the Fund are likely to 
decrease. A nominal interest rate can be described as the sum of a real interest rate and an expected inflation 
rate. Fixed income securities with longer durations tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates, usually 
making them more volatile than securities with shorter durations. Duration is useful primarily as a measure of 
the sensitivity of a fixed income’s market price to interest rate (i.e. yield) movements. 
 
The tables below summarise the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Fund’s financial 
instruments at fair value, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Certain assets 
and liabilities, as presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, have been netted for purposes of the 
presentation below. 
 
 

As at December 31, 
2014 
Assets  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Investments $11,273 $3,765 $114,138 $43,227 $0 $172,403 
Derivative Financial 
Instruments 

- - - - 

 
 

890 

 
 

890 
Cash and Foreign 
Currency 

    1,082 1,082 

Deposit with 
counterparties 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

1,185 1,185 

Receivables - - - - 823 823 
Total Assets $11,273 $3,765 $114,138 $43,227 $3,980 $176,383 
 
As at December 31, 
2014 
Liabilities  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Derivative Financial 
Instrument   

- - (187)- (27) 

 
 
 

(926) 

 
 
 

(1,140) 
Payables - - - - (7) (7) 
Deposit from 
counterparties 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

(301) (301) 

Total Liabilities $- $- $(187) $(27)- $(1,234) $(1,448) 
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As at December 31, 
2013 
Assets  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Investments $14,549 $7,340 $103,662 $38,092 $- $163,643 
Derivative Financial 
Instruments   9 19 

 
472 

 
500 

Cash - - - - 1,042 1,042 
Deposit with 
counterparties 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
435 

 
435 

Receivables - - - - 917 917 
Total Assets $14,549 $7,340 $103,671 $38,111 $2,866 $166,537 
 
As at December 31, 
2013 
Liabilities  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Derivative Financial 
Instruments  - - - - 

 
(443 

 
(443) 

Payables - - - - (7) (7) 
Deposit from 
counterparties 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(277) 

 
(277) 

Total Liabilities $- $- $- $- ($727) $(727) 
As at December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013, had prevailing interest rates increased or 
decreased by 1%, assuming a parallel shift in the yield curve, with all other variables held constant, net assets 
attributable to holders of the Fund would have decreased or increased, by approximately $1,605 or 0.9% 
(December 31, 2013 - $2,242 or 1.4%, January 1, 2013 - $2,298 or 1.4%) of total net assets attributable to holders 
of the Fund. The Fund’s sensitivity to interest rate changes was estimated using the weighted average duration of 
the debt instruments. In practice, actual trading results may differ and the difference could be material. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 
A portion of the financial instruments of the Fund are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency 
of the Fund with the effect that the financial position can be significantly affected by currency movements.  
 
The following tables set out the total exposure to foreign currency risk other than the functional currency in the 
Fund as at December 31, 2014 and 2013. 
 

 
 
December 31, 2014 

 
Total 

$ 
Hedging 

$ 
Net 

$ 
    
Australian Dollar 30 (1,744) (1,714) 
Brazilian Real (187) - (187) 
British Pound 4,531 (4,511) 20 
Euro 68 (2,684) (2,616) 
Indian Rupee 0 1,511 1,511 
Japanese Yen 0 601 601 
Mexican Peso 3 83 86 
United States Dollar 23,832 (21,731) 2,101 

 $28,277 $(28,475) $(198) 
 
 

 
December 31, 2013 

Total 
$ 

Hedging 
$ 

Net 
$ 

Australian Dollar 62 (69) (7) 
British Pound 4,296 (4,267) 29 
Euro 1,869 (1,869) 0 
Japanese Yen 1 322 323 
Mexican Peso 102 (103) (1) 
United States Dollar 25,176 (25,342) (166) 

 $31,506 ($31,328) $178 
 

 
As at December 31, 2014, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened or weakened by 5% in relation to all foreign 
currencies, with all other factors remaining constant, Net Assets could possibly have decreased or increased by 
approximately $10 (2013: $9). In practice, actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the 
difference could be material. 
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Liquidity Risk 
 
The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is primarily affected by the daily redemption of units. Participating 
unitholders may redeem some or all of their outstanding units at any time without notice; thus the Fund’s assets 
primarily comprise readily realisable securities, which can be readily sold. Liquidity risk exists when particular 
investments are difficult to purchase or sell. The Fund’s investments in illiquid securities may reduce returns of 
the Fund because they may be unable to sell the illiquid securities at an advantageous time or price. Funds with 
principal investment strategies that involve foreign securities, derivatives, or securities with substantial market 
and/or credit risk tend to have the greatest exposure to liquidity risk. 
 
Current liabilities of financial derivative instruments consist of the fair value of interest rate swaps, credit default 
swaps, cross-currency swaps, written options, and forward currency contracts as of year-end. Financial 
derivative instruments are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. As the instruments are 
not expected to be held to maturity or termination, the current fair value represents the estimated cash flow that 
may be required to dispose of the positions. Future cash flows of the Fund and realised liabilities may differ from 
current liabilities based on changes in market conditions. 
 
The Investment Manager manages liquidity risk by monitoring the Fund’s investment portfolio and considering 
investments deemed to be illiquid or not readily and easily sold, to ensure there are sufficient liquid assets to 
cover the outstanding liabilities of the Fund. The following tables summarise the current known liabilities for the 
Fund by the expected payment dates of those liabilities: less than three months, three months to one year, and 
greater than one year, if applicable. 
 
As at  December 31, 2014 
Current Liabilities  

Less than 3 
Months 

3 Months - 1 
year  

Greater than 
1 year Total 

Derivative financial instruments 1,140 0 187 1,140 
Deposits with counterparties 301 0 0 301 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7 0 0 7 

Total liabilities $1,448 $0 $187 $1,448 
 
 
 

As at  December 31, 2013  
Current Liabilities  

Less than 3 
Months 

3 Months - 1 
year 

Greater than 
1 year Total 

Derivative financial instruments 443 0 0 443 
Deposits with counterparties 277 0 0 277 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7 0 0 7 

Total liabilities $727 $0 $0 $727 
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Credit and Counterparty Risks 
 
The Fund will be exposed to credit risk to parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement 
default. The Fund minimizes concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of 
customers and counterparties on recognized and reputable exchanges. The Fund could lose money if the issuer 
or guarantor of a fixed income security, or the counterparty to a financial derivatives contract, reverse 
repurchase agreement or a loan of portfolio securities, is unable or unwilling to make timely principal and/or 
interest payments, or to otherwise honor its obligations. Securities are subject to varying degrees of credit risk, 
which are often reflected in credit ratings. 
 
Similar to credit risk, the Fund may be exposed to counterparty risk, or the risk that an institution or other entity 
with which the Fund has unsettled or open transactions will default. Financial assets, which potentially expose 
the Fund to counterparty risk, consist principally of cash due from counterparties and investments.  PIMCO 
minimizes counterparty risks to the Fund by performing extensive reviews of each counterparty and obtaining 
approval from the PIMCO Counterparty Risk Committee prior to entering into transactions with a third party. 
Furthermore, to the extent that unpaid amounts owed to the Fund exceeds a predetermined threshold 
agreed to with the counterparty, such counterparty shall advance collateral to the Fund in the form of cash or 
cash equivalents equal in value to the unpaid amount owed to the Fund. The Fund may invest such collateral in 
securities or other instruments and will typically pay interest to the counterparty on the collateral received. If the 
unpaid amount owed to the Fund subsequently decreases, the Fund would be required to return to the 
counterparty all or a portion of the collateral previously advanced to the Trust. 
 
All transactions in listed securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved counterparties. The risk of 
default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the Trust has received payment. 
Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have been delivered by the counterparty. The trade will fail 
if either party fails to meet its obligation. 
 
The table below summarises the credit rating composition for the Fund’s Net Assets. 

 
 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
Investment Grade 94% 97% 
Below Investment Grade 

6% 
 

3% 
Not Rated 0% 0% 
Total 100% 100% 
Average Credit Quality AA AA 

 
Credit ratings are obtained from Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. When more than one rating is obtained for a 
security, the highest rating has been used. 
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31. Unitholders’ Equity 

The Fund may issue units of a single class, which shall entitle the holders thereof to the rights and subject them 
to certain limitations, restrictions and conditions. The number of Units authorised to be issued by the Fund is 
unlimited. Fund units are sold, and are redeemable at the holder’s option, in accordance with the provisions of 
the Fund Agreement at the prevailing net asset value per unit. 
 
The Fund’s capital is represented by their unitholders’ equity. There are no externally imposed restrictions on 
the Fund’s capital.  
 

32. Fund Management and Fees 

PIMCO Canada Corp. is the Investment Manager of the Fund having responsibility for the investment of the 
assets of the Fund. Unitholders pay the Investment Manager the investment management fees directly as set 
forth in the Fund’s offering memorandum. The Investment Manager, and not the unitholders, is responsible for 
paying any sub-advisory fees payable to PIMCO. 
 
The Fund pays PIMCO Canada an Administration Fee of 0.10% plus Harmonised Sales Tax (“HST”) per annum 
of its average daily net assets, accrued daily and payable monthly. PIMCO Canada is responsible for paying all 
of the Fund’s operating costs and expenses; including trustee, custody and audit fees, but excluding brokerage 
commissions, interest, taxes, foreign withholding tax and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation. 
 
The Trustee holds sole legal title to all property of the Fund in Fund for the unitholders and is responsible for the 
management of the Fund. The Trustee is entitled under the terms of the Declaration of Fund to delegate any or 
all of its powers as Trustee. The Trustee has appointed its affiliate, State Street Bank and Trust Company, to 
provide custody and accounting services for the Fund. The Fund does not pay for the distribution of units. 

 
33. Broker Commissions and Soft Dollar Contracts 

For the periods ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Fund incurred total brokerage commissions in the 
amount of $2 (2013: $2) to dealers in connection with portfolio transactions. 
 
Soft dollar commissions are arrangements under which products or services other than execution of securities 
transactions are obtained by an adviser from or through a broker-dealer in exchange for the direction by the 
adviser of client brokerage transactions to the broker-dealer. All brokerage commissions incurred by the Fund 
are used to pay for trade execution only and no soft dollar arrangements exist. 
 

34. Income Taxes 

The Fund is an open-ended unit Fund as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada). All net income for tax 
purposes and taxable net realised capital gains will be distributed to the unitholders in the calendar year, and 
will eliminate any liability for income taxes for the Fund. 
 
Capital losses realised by the Fund may be carried forward indefinitely and used to reduce future taxable capital 
gains. Non-capital losses may be carried forward up to twenty years and used to reduce future taxable income 
or taxable capital gains. As of December 31, 2014, the Fund had no unused non-capital losses and has the 
following capital losses that are carried forward:  $6,288 (2013:$6,680). 
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